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Revenue £90.4m (2007:£90.3m); 4 year CAGR 8%

Adjusted EBITDA1 margin up 2 percentage points
to 24%

Adjusted PBT2 up 14% to £19.2m (2007:£16.9m)

PBT after exceptional cost £14.5m (2007:£16.9m)

Adjusted basic EPS3 up 12% to 9.2p 
(basic EPS 6.7p (2007:8.2p))

Net cash of £7.7m after share repurchase of 
£7.9m (Net cash at 30 June 2007:£9.0m)

Full year dividend per share up 20% to 4.2p 
(2007:3.5p)

Notes
(1) One of Centaur’s key measures of profit, which is used to measure the
relative performance of divisional units of the Group, is earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation, excluding exceptional items and other
significant non-cash items including share based payments (Adjusted EBITDA).
Refer to page 27.

(2) Adjusted PBT (PBTA) is profit before tax, excluding the impact of
amortisation of acquired intangibles and of exceptional items and excluding 
the profit on disposal of associated undertakings. Refer to page 27.

(3) Adjusted EPS is based on the basic EPS but after making adjustments for
amortisation on acquired intangibles and exceptional items and excluding the
profit on disposal of associated undertakings, as detailed in note 7 to the
financial statements.

(4) All comparatives have been restated to exclude discontinued operations

(5) Cash conversion rate is free cash flow expressed as a percentage of
adjusted operating profit. Free cash flow is defined as cash generated from
operations (note 25 to the financial statements), less capital expenditure on
property, plant and equipment and software, and excluding the cash impact of
exceptional items. Adjusted operating profit is operating profit after making
adjustments for amortisation on acquired intangibles and exceptional items.
Refer to page 28.
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Over the last five years, Centaur has delivered significant growth
in revenues, profits, and cash flows as illustrated below

4 year compound Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
annual growth 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 30 June 2006 30 June 2005 30 June 2004

Actual Actual Actual (4) Actual (4) Proforma
IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS UK GAAP

% £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 8% 90.4 90.3 80.5 70.4 66.3

Adjusted EBITDA (1) 26% 21.5 19.7 15.7 12.1 8.4
Adjusted EBITDA (1) margin 24% 22% 20% 17% 13%

Adjusted profit before tax (2) 34% 19.2 16.9 13.2 9.6 5.9
Profit before tax 14.5 16.9 15.1 9.1 3.0

Adjusted basic EPS (pence) (3) 35% 9.2 8.2 6.2 4.6 2.8
Basic EPS 6.7 8.2 7.6 4.3 2.9

Average staffing (number of heads) 786 748 710 695 724
continuing operations

Revenue per head (£000) 115 121 113 101 92

Cash conversion rate % (5) 90% 94% 89% 81% 91%

Net cash 7.7 9.0 6.2 10.0 5.7 

Full year dividend per share (pence) 4.2 3.5 3.0 1.7 1.0 

Revenue (£m) Adjusted EBITDA (£m)

Adjusted PBT (£m) Adjusted EPS (pence)

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
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Centaur serves the information 
and marketing needs of a number 
of high value markets and
professional communities. 

Our understanding of the changing
needs of our customers has led to us
owning many market-leading brands.
These brands are increasingly
deployed over a broad range of media,
and our brand strength and closeness
to our markets provides a rich source
of organic growth opportunities. 

We operate as a federation of small
businesses, with a culture that is

highly entrepreneurial and innovative
with a strong sense of local ownership.

Centaur's vision is to be the leading
provider of information, marketing
and lead-generation media solutions
to our chosen business and special
interest communities. We seek to
offer the best integrated product and
service portfolio in each of the vertical
markets we serve. We aim to achieve
and maintain market leadership
through continuous customer-
responsive innovation and a
consistently high level of content
quality and integrity.
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Centaur’s organisation reflects our community
focus, operating as it does as a federation of
small businesses serving individual vertical
communities, supported by a strong central
infrastructure of common services such as Finance,
Circulation, Web and IT Operations and HR.

Our culture is entrepreneurial, innovative and
highly customer-focused, with each community
served by discrete profit centres. We strongly
encourage innovation in pursuit of customer
satisfaction. As a result, most of our portfolio has
been created and launched within the business,
as opposed to being acquired, and we seek to
sustain market leadership by continually refreshing
and expanding that portfolio. Around 11% of
Centaur's revenues in the past year derived from
products created within the last three years.

In pursuit of market leadership, Centaur's strategy
is generally first to establish a high frequency
publication (in print or online) that becomes a
trusted source of information, whose identity
becomes closely linked with that of the
community it serves. Typically we have launched
new products within markets that are undergoing
change (which is invariably the catalyst which
permits market entry) and where we perceive high
value, long-term growth potential. 

In creating products that meet the needs of our
markets, we seek both to define and analyse the
buyer audience that suppliers wish to reach and
to identify the essential information needs of that
audience. In doing so, we also seek to maintain
the highest standards of content quality and
editorial integrity. This strategy reflects the fact
that, whilst Centaur generates significant revenues

from advertising, exhibitions and sponsored
events, we are positioned primarily as being in the
relevant readership business and our primary goal
is to establish and maintain market-leading
information brands. This permits us to build a
database of loyal communities of readers with
significant purchasing power, which we can use to
provide effective marketing and lead generation
solutions to our advertising clients.

The second element of Centaur's strategy is
therefore to extend its core publication brands
into complementary product offerings.

Centaur’s strategy, since the formation of the Group in 1982, has been based
firstly on identifying and serving the information needs of distinct business
communities and secondly on facilitating contact between buyers and sellers
in those communities. We do not seek to enter a new market unless we believe
that it offers substantial value and that we can achieve market leadership
within an acceptable timescale.
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Magazines

Magazines have traditionally been at the core of
Centaur's strategy. Their ability to engage with
their readers can allow them to become an
integral part of the community they serve. 
This is particularly true of weekly magazines,
whose frequency reinforces their importance 
to their market. The key editorial functions of
magazines are as follows:

(a) They provide a forum for news and analysis
about the market, where topicality and depth of
understanding are essential.

(b) They serve to diminish the sense of isolation
experienced by people working within one part of
a community by informing them of the
experiences and achievements of contemporaries
working in a parallel area.

(c) They monitor the pulse of the sector and
provide key data and analysis on a regular basis.

(d) They provide guidance to readers to assist
them in improving their performance in their area
of special interest.

The emergence of the internet as an effective
information and marketing medium is highly
complementary to the way that readers use
magazines. We believe that magazines remain 
a uniquely effective medium with which to 
develop an in-depth relationship with their 
readers and to establish effective and valuable
information brands, which can be exploited
through multiple channels.

Events

As a natural extension of our core mission to
create a market identity for a community and
diminish the sense of isolation between its
members, the development of meetings-based
events is a core part of Centaur's strategy. 
These take a number of forms, the most
important of which are exhibitions, conferences,
summits and awards.

The strategy for exhibitions is primarily to build
small to medium-sized shows that seek to serve
clearly defined vertical markets. These vertical
markets may be subsets of a broader market
served by the relevant weekly or monthly periodical.
Revenues are derived principally from stand sales.

Centaur's conferences model is essentially based
on 1 or 2 day programmes addressing topics of
high current interest. Revenues are principally
from delegates, so great emphasis is placed on
the quality of programme research and choice 
of speakers.

Summits typically comprise workshop and
meetings-based events, bringing together
relatively small numbers of senior members of
particular vertical markets. They have a strong
information base, but revenues are normally
derived from sponsorship.

Centaur also stages the leading annual awards
ceremony in each of its major communities.
These events reinforce the strength of the related
information brands and provide invaluable
opportunities to communicate with the market.

Online services

The internet offers many new ways to serve our
core markets and also dramatically extends our
reach and therefore the size and potential of our
markets. We expect online products to become
an increasingly important medium over the next
few years. 

Editorially, the magazine provides an ideal medium
for news analysis and special emphasis features,
whilst the internet is better suited to breaking
news highlights, multimedia content, user-
generated content, data analysis and database
searching. From an advertiser's perspective, the
business magazine is an excellent medium for
brand building and achieving in-depth
engagement with “information consumers”, whilst
the internet is more suited to advertising designed
for lead-generation and providing access to
“information searchers”. In terms of circulation,
the magazine typically addresses the top end of 
a community, whilst the internet, with its very low
marginal cost of distribution, permits a much
broader reach.

Centaur has successfully launched internet
services to support each of its main magazine
brands. Revenues and profits from these services
have grown rapidly in the last few years and they
have become an integral part of the offering we
make to our communities. 
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Centaur is above all an entrepreneurial Company. 
It depends for its success on the talent, commitment,
energy and creativity of its staff, who have performed
magnificently once again. My thanks and appreciation
goes to all of them.
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I am pleased to announce that Centaur is again
reporting a record level of adjusted PBT in the 12
months to 30 June 2008, with results ahead of
consensus market expectations, up 14% to £19.2
million (FY2007: £16.9 million), and adjusted basic
earnings per share 12% up at 9.2p (FY2007:
8.2p). Reported PBT fell to £14.5 million (FY2007:
£16.9 million) as a result of an exceptional charge
of £3.6 million which arose principally due to the
closure of Perfect Analysis and the organisational
changes within publishing operations.

Revenues were level with those of the previous
financial year. This result reflected the effects of 
a more challenging trading environment that
developed during the second half of the financial
year, in which the Company experienced a 
4% decline in overall advertising revenues and 
an 8% decline in print revenues. This resulted in 
a 2% growth in advertising revenues for the year
as a whole with a modest decline in print
revenues offset by continued growth in online
advertising revenues. 

Adjusted EBITDA increased by 9% to £21.5
million (FY2007: £19.7 million), delivering a further
improvement in margin to 24% from 22% in the
previous year representing further progress
towards our target margin of 25%. 

In light of this performance, the Board is
recommending a final dividend of 3.0p per share,
giving a full year dividend of 4.2p; an increase of
20% over the prior year. The final dividend will be
paid to shareholders on the register as at 24
October 2008. It is proposed that the dividend will
be paid on 20 November 2008. 

The downturn in the cycle that we are now
experiencing has adversely affected most of our
served markets in the past few months, although
this has been partially offset by a general
improvement in our market shares. The Legal and
Financial Division has been particularly impacted
by the weakness in the mortgage market,
resulting in a 5% decline in revenues for the year
as a whole. Marketing and Creative Division
revenues were unchanged year on year, reflecting
tougher second half conditions. Engineering and
Construction revenues grew 6% in the year, with 
a strong performance by the engineering titles
offsetting a relatively unchanged result from the
construction portfolio. Perfect Information
experienced a decline in revenues of 3%, 
resulting from the discontinuation of Perfect

Analysis, a loss making division within this
segment, which was announced in the first half of
the financial year. General Business Services
revenues grew 7% led by the successful launch of
the Business Travel Show in Dubai. 

Adjusted EBITDA has also benefited from the actions
we undertook to reduce costs during the year,
which led to a two point improvement in margins.

The fastest pace of revenue growth was derived
from online products, which, excluding the results
of Perfect Information, grew by 22% over the prior
year. This demonstrates the continuing success of
our principal strategy in the past few years, which
has been to extend our major print publishing
brands across multiple media, but with a
particular focus on online opportunities. Online
now accounts for 19% of total revenues against
17% in FY2007. 

Centaur has developed most of its business
organically and in FY2008 11% of revenues were
generated by products launched within the
previous three years (FY2007: 12%). We
continued to maintain a steady pace of new
product development during the year, with a
number of new magazine, online and event
launches. The key developments and initiatives in
the year are outlined in the Business Review.

Owing to the current economic climate, we
anticipate that market conditions will remain
challenging. As we reported in our Trading
Statement on 14 July 2008, we expect a further
decline in print revenues in our seasonally quieter
half year to 31 December 2008. The outlook for
trading conditions in 2009 remains uncertain.
Meanwhile, we continue to achieve growth in our
online products and in events; we are planning a
number of new product initiatives in the course of
this financial year and, in particular, we are taking
further steps to improve the cost effectiveness of
our print operations. 

Centaur is above all an entrepreneurial Company.
It depends for its success on the talent,
commitment, energy and creativity of its staff,
who have performed magnificently once again. 
My thanks and appreciation goes to all of them.

Graham Sherren
Chairman

Graham Sherren
Chairman
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Analysis of results
2008 2008 2007 2007

£m £m £m £m
Revenue Adjusted Revenue Adjusted

EBITDA EBITDA
By Segment
Legal and Financial 28.7 9.2 30.3 9.0
Marketing and Creative 23.6 4.1 23.6 3.6
Construction and Engineering 20.5 4.7 19.4 4.1
Perfect Information 5.8 2.1 6.0 1.5
General Business Services 11.8 1.4 11.0 1.5

Total 90.4 21.5 90.3 19.7

By Source
Recruitment advertising 15.6 - 15.0 -
Other advertising 34.6 - 34.3 -
Circulation revenue 6.1 - 6.3 -
Online subscriptions 7.0 - 7.3 -
Events 25.8 - 25.9 -
Other 1.3 - 1.5 -

Total 90.4 - 90.3 -

By Client type
Audiences 19.6 - 20.5 -
Marketers 70.8 - 69.8 -

Total 90.4 - 90.3 -

By Product type
Print 46.6 10.7 47.7 10.9
Events 25.8 6.7 25.9 5.9
Online products 17.6 4.1 15.8 2.9
Other 0.4 - 0.9 -

Total 90.4 21.5 90.3 19.7

Underlying
Underlying 89.7 21.4 82.5 18.1
Acquisitions (1) 0.7 0.1 7.8 1.6

Total 90.4 21.5 90.3 19.7

By Maturity
New (2) 9.8 0.2 10.9 (0.3)
Existing and acquired 80.6 21.3 79.4 20.0

Total 90.4 21.5 90.3 19.7

Notes
(1) Acquisitions are defined as those made 
within the current or preceding financial year

(2) New products are defined as any product
launched in the current or two preceding 
financial years



Innovation is central to Centaur’s culture and is an almost
constant activity across the whole portfolio. In the new
financial year, we are continuing to develop new products
at a steady pace. Our current development initiatives
include extending our established brands into new media
and a continued enhancement of market positions
achieved through acquisitions. 
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Strategic Overview

As previously reported,
we have identified 5 key
strategic objectives for
the business:

To achieve critical 
mass in high value
growth markets
Our primary focus is on expanding our presence
in existing high value markets in which we can
see opportunities for significant growth. We do
not wish to enter markets unless we can
realistically expect to achieve market leadership
and a minimum profit contribution of £1 million
within 3 years. During the past year, we have sold
one publication, serving a discrete specialist
community, which did not match these criteria. 

To deliver double digit
growth in revenues
across the cycle
Despite the downturn in the advertising cycle
which impacted the second half results, revenues
in the five years from FY2003 to FY2008 have
grown by 8% per annum compound.

To balance portfolio
revenues across print,
online and events
Print remains the dominant medium in Centaur’s
portfolio, representing 52% of revenues in FY2008
(FY2007: 53%), but online revenues grew by 11%
in the past year and represent 19% of Group
revenues in FY2008 (FY2007: 17%).

To expand audience
share of revenues
Advertising revenues grew 2% in the year with 
a decline in print advertising revenue offset by
further growth online. Revenues from audiences
represented 22% of total revenues (FY2007: 23%).
The decline in audience share of revenues was
principally due to the closure of Perfect Analysis. 

To increase adjusted
EBITDA margins to 25% 
Adjusted EBITDA margins increased to 24% in 
the year (FY2007: 22%), representing good
progress towards our target.

Geoff Wilmot
Chief Executive Officer
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Trading Review

The Group reported flat revenues for the full year at £90.4 million. This follows
6% revenue growth in the first half of the financial year followed by a second
half in which trading conditions in a number of our served markets tightened
and revenues declined by 4%.

However online advertising continued to grow strongly and was 27% ahead for
the year, although this growth was offset by some decline in print based
advertising revenues and, in total, advertising sales were 2% up year on year. 

In response to tough trading conditions a number of cost reduction initiatives
were implemented and this resulted in an 8% year on year reduction in total
Group costs during the second half of the financial year contributing to a
strong improvement in full year profitability with EBITDA margin up 
2 percentage points to 24% and an increase in adjusted basic earnings per
share rising by 12% to 9.2p (FY2007: 8.2p).

In total 11% of revenues generated in the last financial year were from
products or events launched within the past three years (FY2007:12%) - 
if these revenues are excluded all existing and acquired products collectively
achieved an EBITDA margin of 26% for the year.

Cash flows from operating activities at £14.4 million were 8% up (FY2007:
£13.3 million) although increased capital expenditure reflecting further
investment in web platform development and property refurbishment reduced
free cash flow, resulting in a 90% conversion of adjusted operating profit into
free cash flow compared to 94% last year. 
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Legal & Financial

Financial Services

The primary focus of the Financial Services
community products is on retail financial services
and the information interface between IFAs
(independent financial advisers) and the providers
of financial products and services. The community
also includes Centaur’s Public Private Finance-
related publishing activities.

The key products in this community are: 
Money Marketing, Mortgage Strategy and Fund
Strategy (all weeklies); MoneyMarketing.co.uk and
Headlinemoney.co.uk; plus a number of summit
and awards events including the Mortgage
Summit and Money Marketing Awards.

Legal

The Legal community products are primarily
published for in-house counsel in major UK
companies and the private practice law firms and
barristers that serve their legal needs. There are
also products produced for law students.

The key products in this community are: 
The Lawyer (weekly) and Lawyer2B;
TheLawyer.com; The Lawyer Legal Summit and
The Lawyer Awards.

Legal & Financial remains our largest market
segment reporting 32% of total Group revenues
for 2008. (FY2007: 34%)

Despite a 5% reduction in revenues for the year,
profitability improved following a number of cost
efficiencies undertaken in response to the more
progressively difficult trading conditions during the
course of the year. These efficiencies resulted in a
23% reduction in year-on-year costs in the
second half of the financial year and a 2% point
increase in adjusted EBITDA margin to 32%, for
the full year.

Core products targeting the mortgage and
secured lending sectors were affected by the
volatility in credit markets that prevailed from the
start of the financial year and this also resulted in
some slowing of marketing activity in the broader
retail financial sector during the second half of the
year. In addition, the legal sector experienced
some decline in the corporate transaction activity
that underpins the sector. Despite this, online
legal recruitment grew strongly with double digit
growth in The Lawyer.com revenues for the full
year following the 5% growth reported for the 
first half. 

The major magazine titles within this segment
reported a 6% reduction in revenues although
most of this decrease related to the main
mortgage title – Mortgage Strategy magazine -
which in total represented around 12% of the
segment’s total print revenues. Excluding
Mortgage Strategy, the rest of the print portfolio
reported 4% full year revenue growth led by
strong growth in core financial titles Fund Strategy
and Money Marketing.

Event revenues reduced by 16% although this
related primarily to the Mortgage Summit which
was rescheduled for the new financial year.
Excluding this, revenues from other financial
summits grew by 42% in the year and sponsored
meetings remained a particularly resilient event
format as well as the focus of much new product
development within the segment with seven new
event launches in the year.

Elsewhere within the segment new product
development included the launch of a new
website - InsideMoneytalk.com - providing details
of press releases relating to financial service
product providers and new product releases, the
publication of the first legal employee engagement
benchmarking study in conjunction with YouGov
plc, our joint venture research partner, and the
publication of the Transatlantic Elite survey of New
York based law firms following the establishment
of a New York editorial office for The Lawyer
magazine earlier this year.
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‘Not a change 
change of law’

By Nicole Blackmore

Criminal lawyer Joseph Hill
is forming a lobby group 
of investors in AIG Life’s
enhanced fund, with a class
action against AIG Life and
four private banks that rec-
ommended the product on
the cards.

Hill says UBS, Coutts, Bar-
clays Wealth and Lloyds TSB
recommended the enhanced
fund to investors, which is
being closed on December 15.

He says it is expected that
investors will make a loss on
their investments and further
action will be determined
depending on individual
experiences that arise follow-
ing the closure.

Hill says: “It looks like
investors are going to make
a loss, whether investors exit
the fund or stay in the pro-
tected recovery fund. At  Sep-
tember 15, which was before
the problem with AIG struck,
the value of the fund was
already down. 

“People have gone into this
account thinking it was an
instant access account, but
now they have to leave their
money in there for three-and-
a-half years to have their cap-
ital guaranteed.”

A Barclays Wealth spokes -
person says: “We have a ded-
icated team working with the
AIG management to deter-
mine the best way to achieve
the return of all funds to our
clients. We are focusing our
efforts on representing the
interests of our clients in
these discussions with AIG.”

UBS, Coutts and Lloyds TSB
were unable to comment on
the lobby group at the time
of going to press.

Investors and advisers
wishing to find out more
about the group can contact
Joseph Hill at josephhill-
sols@yahoo.co.uk.

By Nicole Blackmore

Advisers are concerned that
clients in the soon-to-be-
defunct AIG Life UK enhanced
fund are being forced to make
an irrevocable decision about
their investment without asset
value information.

AIG Life is closing the fund
on December 15 and is giving
investors the choice of with-
drawing their investment or
transferring it to a protected
recovery fund.

Policyholders who want to
withdraw their investment 
can transfer 50 per cent of hold-
ings now into the standard fund
and request a withdrawal. The
other half will be switched into
the standard fund and made
available by December 15 after
AIG Life has sold off some

assets to fund the withdrawals.
But investors must make the

decision, which cannot be
reversed, at the start of Octo-
ber. AIG Life says as it has to sell
off assets to fund the with-
drawals and the markets are
highly volatile, it cannot pre-
dict what the value of the assets
will be by mid-December.

Policyholders who want to
keep their money invested will
see their assets transferred into
the protected recovery fund.
AIG Life guarantees investors
that they will receive at least
the value of their investment
at December 15 back in three-
and-a-half years’ time.

One adviser, who does not
want to be named, fears that
the value of the assets being
sold could drop to as little as
10 per cent of face value by

December 15. He says: “AIG are
telling investors to make a deci-
sion without any idea of what
they are going to get back if
they do sell. They are not treat-
ing customers fairly.”

Any loss made will not be
covered by the Financial Serv-
ices Compensation Scheme,
which only pays out in the
event of a company going into
administration.

Seven Investment Manage-
ment marketing director Justin
Urquhart Stewart says that
while it is an unfortunate sit-
uation for policyholders, it is
a “miracle” that AIG Life is still
in operation.

He says: “It is a hell of a lock-
in for policyholders that wish
to remain but in the current
circumstances it is as good as
it is going to get. Policyhold-

ers wanting to withdraw their
investment could complain
about having to wait until
December for the full amount
but that could endanger the
rest of the fund. This is the best
of a bad job.”

Baronworth Investment
Services director Colin Jackson
says: “It would come as no sur-
prise if more funds were to 
follow. If I was an investor and
I had money in a similar fund,
I would be on the phone to 
my provider asking what the
situation is.”

A working example prov-
ided by AIG calculates the unit
price to be 80 per cent of the

- ceD ta eulav dnuf decnahne
ember 14. But AIG reiterates
that it is unable to predict what
that percentage value will be
until the assets are sold.

‘AIG clients forced
into decision on
enhanced fund’

Investors 
set to bring
class action
against
banks 

By Lee Jones

The FSCS says it is unable to
predict if the Bradford & Bin-
gley nationalisation will trig-
ger increased levies on IFAs
and the rest of the financial
services industry.

This week, the Government
and the FSCS took on a £14bn
loan from the Bank of Eng-
land to cover the B&B inter-
vention. The authorities hope
the sale of B&B assets, namely
its mortgage books, can cover
the loan but admitted any
remaining shortfall will fall
on to the financial sector.

Aifa director general Chris
Cummings says: “This is mov-
ing the FSCS into new terri-
tory. The enormity of the loan
raises some serious questions
for the industry and has
potential ramifications for
the wider financial services
sector, not just banks.”

If the sale of the B&B assets
does not meet the debt, the
next £1.84bn will fall to the
banking sector. After that, a
further £2.2bn will fall to the
general retail pool, which will
include IFAs and mortgage
brokers. If this is still inade-
quate, the FSCS will increase

levies on the financial indus-
try to meet repayments.

An FSCS spokesman says it
understands why IFAs might
be alarmed but it was not cer-
tain that an extra bill would
ever land on their doorstep.
He says: “If the recovery of
B&B assets is high, then
future levies will be low, so it
might not even affect IFAs.
This is a complicated issue.
Future levies are not known
yet. We have to let the process
play out.”

But CMS Cameron McKenna
partner Paul Edmondson says
that IFAs will be hit with a lot

more than £2bn as a result of
a shortfall in assets. He says:
“Repayment of the loan will
exceed by a large margin the
levy which FSCS can impose
on the industry. This would
need to increase by approxi-
mately 350 per cent to cover
the full £14bn loan.” 

CBK Colchester principal
Peter Chadborn says: “IFAs
are annoyed and worried. We
pay for more than our fair
share for things like this. I
just hope if levies do go up,
they are proportionate to risk
and to who is to blame for 
all of this.”

IFAs facing levy rise over B&B 
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By Nicole Blackmore

Criminal lawyer Joseph Hill
is forming a lobby group
of investors in AIG Life’s
enhanced fund, with a class
action against AIG Life and
four private banks that rec-
ommended the product on
the cards.

Hill says UBS, Coutts, Bar-
clays WealthWW and Lloyds TSB
recommended the enhanced
fund to investors, which is
being closed on December 15.

He says it is expected that
investors will make a loss on
their investmentsnn and further
action will be determined
depending on individual
experiences that arise followff -ww
ing the closure.

Hill says: “It looks like
investors are going to make
a loss, whether investors exit
the fund or stay in the pro-
tected recoveryrr fund. At Sep-
tember 15, which was before
the problem with AIG struck,
the value of the fund was
already down. 

“People haveaa gone into this
account thinking it was an
instant access account, but
now they havea to leavea their
money in there for three-and-
a-half years to haveaa their cap-
ital guaranteed.”

A Barclays WealthWW spokes-
person says: “WeWW haveaa a ded-
icated team working with the
AIG management to deter-
mine the best way to achieve
the return of all funds to our
clients. WeWW are focusing our
efforff ts on representing the
interests of our clients in
these discussions with AIG.”

UBS, Coutts and Lloyds TSB
were unable to comment on
the lobby group at the time
of going to press.

Investors and advisers
wishing to find out more
about the group can contact
Joseph Hill at josephhill-
sols@yahoo.co.uk.

By Nicole Blackmore

Advisers are concerned that
clients in the soon-to-be-
defunct AIG Life UK enhanced
fund are being forced to make
an irrevocable decision about
their invnn estment without asset
value information.

AIG Life is closing the fund
on December 15 and is giving
investors the choice of with-
drawing their investment or
transferring it to a protected
recovery fund.

Policyholders who want to
withdraw their investment
can transfer 50 per cent of hold-
ingsnowintothestandardfund
and request a withdrawal. The
other half will be switched into
the standard fund and made
availableaa by December 15 after
AIG Life has sold off some

assets to fund the withdrawals.
But investorsnn must make the

decision, which cannot be
reversed, at the start of Octo-
ber. AIG Life says as it has to sell
off assets to fund the with-
drawals and the markets are
highly volatile, it cannot pre-
dict what the value of the assets
will be by mid-December.

Policyholders who want to
keep their money investednn will
see their assets transferred into
the protected recovery fund.
AIG Life guarantees investors
that they will receive at least
the value of their investment
at December 15 back in three-
and-a-half years’ time.

One adviser, who does not
want to be named, fears that
the value of the assets being
sold could drop to as little as
10 per cent of face value by

December 15. He says: “AIG are
telling investorsnn to make a deci-
sion without any idea of what
they are going to get back if
they do sell. They are not treat-
ing customers fairly.”

Any loss made will not be
covered by the Financial Serv-
ices Compensation Scheme,
which only pays out in the
event of a company going into
administration.

Seven Investment Manage-
ment marketing director Justin
Urquhart Stewart says that
while it is an unfortunate sit-
uation for policyholders, it is
a “miracle” that AIG Life is still
in operation.

He says: “It is a hell of a lock-
in for policyholders that wish
to remain but in the current
circumstances it is as good as
it is going to get. Policyhold-

ers wanting to withdraw their
investment could complain
about having to wait until
December for the full amount
but that could endanger the
rest of the fund. This is the best
of a bad job.”

Baronworth Investment
Services director Colin Jackson
says: “It would come as no sur-
prise if more funds were to
follow. If I was an investor and
I had money in a similar fund,
I would be on the phone to
my provider asking what the
situation is.”

A working example prov-
ided by AIG calculates the unit
price to be 80 per cent of the

-ceDtaeulavdnufudecnahne
ember 14. But AIG reiterates
that it is unable to predict what
that percentage value will be
until the assets are sold.

‘A‘ IG clients forced
into decision on
enhanced fundff ’

Investorsnn
set to brinrr gn
class actiott n
against
banknn skk

By Lee Jones

The FSCS says it is unable to
predict if the Bradford & Bin-
gley nationalisation will trig-gg
ger increased levies on IFAs
and the rest of the financial
services industryrr .yy

This week, the Government
and the FSCS took on a £14bn
loan from the Bank of Eng-
land to cover the B&B inter-
vention. The authorities hope
the sale of B&B assets, namelyll
its mortgage books, can cover
the loan but admitted any
remaining shortfall will fall
on to the financial sector.

Aifa director general Chris
Cummings says: “This is mov-vv
ing the FSCS into new terri-
toryrr .yy The enormity of the loan
raises some serirr ous questions
for the industry and has
potential ramifications for
the wider financial services
sector, not just banks.”

If the sale of the B&B assets
does not meet the debt, the
next £1.84bn will fall to the
banking sector. After that, a
further £2.2bn will fall to the
general retail pool, which will
include IFAs and mortgage
brokers. If this is still inade-
quate, the FSCS will increase

levies on the financial indus-
tryrr to meet repayments.

An FSCS spokesman says it
understands why IFAs might
be alarmed but it was not cer-rr
tain that an extra bill would
ever land on their doorstep.
He says: “If the recovery of
B&B assets is high, then
future levies will be low, so it
might not even affff ecff t IFAs.
This is a complicated issue.
Future levies are not known
yet. WeWW haveaa to let the process
play out.”

ButCMSCameronMcKennKK a
partner Paulaa Edmondson sayaa syy
that IFAs will be hit with a lot

more than £2bn as a result of
a shortfall in assets. He says:
“Repayment of the loan willf
exceed by a large margin the
levy which FSCS can impose
on the industryrr .y This would
need to increase by approxi-
mately 350 per cent to cover
the full £14bn loan.” 

CBK Colchester principal
Peter Chadborn says: “IFAs
are annoyed and worried. WeWW
pay for more than our fair
share for things like this. I
just hope if levies do go up,
they are proportionate to risk
and to who is to blame for
all of this.”

IFAs facingcc levee yvv riserr over B&B
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By Kian Ganz and 
Catrin Griffiths

THE CITY’S banks are
clamouring for the cream of
Lehman Brothers’ in-house
lawyers, with many setting
up special processes to deal
with the demand. 

In a bid to stop oppor-
tunistic headhunting at
Canary Wharf, JPMorgan
has emailed a memo to
recruitment  consultants,
asking them to stop for-
warding CVs from Lehman,
Bank of America and Mer-
rill Lynch, unless specifical-
ly requested. 

JPMorgan is actively
recruiting Lehman lawyers,
but has been overwhelmed
with CVs in the past week
and wants to avoid poten-
tial disputes over recruiter
commissions.

The bank told recruiters
that within the recent  market
turmoil and an “unprece-
dented set of circumstances”
in the job market, it was
doing all it could to manage
that process. 

A spokesman for JPMor-
gan said: “The bank remains
committed to investing in
talent and we’re doing the
best that we can to identify
people to fill positions where
necessary.” 

Credit Suisse has set up a
separate recruitment stream
f o r  L e h m a n  l a w y e r s ,

instructing recruiters to
 separate and highlight the
Lehman candidates’ CVs.

Several other banks’ in-
house legal departments are
known to be considering
making offers to key legal
staff.

Lehman’s in-house legal
team employs at least 70
lawyers who are still work-
ing at the bank assisting
PwC with the administra-
tion process.

LINKLATERS SET TO BILL
£20m ON LEHMAN 
Linklaters is in line to bill
up to £20m on the UK side
of the Lehman Brothers
insolvency as the adminis-
tration moves into its
 second week. 

Linklaters insiders are
 predicting that, because of
the complexity of unravelling
the counterparty agreements

on derivatives trades, the
firm’s fees could rival some
of the biggest insolvency
billings since Marconi. 

W i t h i n  f i v e  d a y s
 Linklaters increased the
number of partners working
on the deal from eight to 20.  

Some 60 associates are
a lready  involved ,  but

 Linklaters sources predict
that number will rise to 100
lawyers in a matter of
weeks.

Linklaters and Price-
waterhouseCoopers advised
on Enron earlier this decade.
Other firms to have racked
up large insolvency fees in
the last decade include: Allen

& Overy, which billed £31m
on Marconi and £10m on
Drax; Clifford Chance, which
billed £20m on British
Energy and £10m on
 Marconi; and Lovells, which
got the lion’s share of the
£100m legal fees billed over
the 12 years of the BCCI
 liquidation.

ASHURST CONFLICT 
BAGS FSA FOR LOVELLS
Lovells has benefited from
an Ashurst conflict to scoop
the Financial Services
Authority’s (FSA) Lehman
Brothers mandate, just as
the FSA is set to finalise its
first legal panel. 

Ashurst is acting for sev-
eral of Lehman’s healthier
business arms, clearing the
way for Lovells to advise the
FSA on Lehman’s adminis-
tration application.

Ashurst is the FSA’s go-to
adviser, but more than 20
firms have applied for a
place on the FSA’s first
panel, which should be com-
pleted by the end of the year. 

FSA chief counsel Greg
Choyce said: “We’re not sure
yet how many firms will be
on the panel.”

Ashurst  decl ined to
 comment.

After Lehman: the winners, the
losers, the opportunities

By Katy Dowell

FAMILY lawyers are already
seeing an increase in work
as a growing number of
women seek to secure assets
as the economic boom turns
to gloom.

Leading divorce lawyers
told The Lawyer there had

been a significant increase
in the number of women
seeking advice on divorce
proceedings. Meanwhile,
men are seeking advice on
how they are going to pre-
vent their exes from access-
ing their dwindling wealth. 

“[Women will] want to
move quickly to secure the

family assets,” said Cintons
family partner Liz Vernon.
“We’re also seeing more men
asking about variations –
where court orders were
made years ago and the
 husband has to pay over an
annual £100,000 to the wife
but can no longer afford to.” 

Vernon said she already

had several such cases ongo-
ing,  compared with none at
the same time last year.

A survey of 100 City ana-
lysts, stockbrokers and
hedge fund managers by
Mishcon de Reya revealed
that more than a fifth
believed divorce proceedings
would be launched ahead of

a recession as spouses
attempt to secure cash.

“The worry is that the
future is very uncertain,” said
Mishcon family partner San-
dra Davis. “Those couples
who papered over the cracks
with open chequebooks are
now seeing those cracks
emerging as full fault lines.”

Credit crisis sparks rush on divorce proceedings
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Marketing

The Marketing community products focus on
addressing the information requirements of senior
UK marketers with significant marketing and
advertising budgets and the marketing services
companies that provide services to them.

The key products in this community are:
Marketing Week and New Media Age (weekly),
Precision Marketing (fortnightly);
MarketingWeek.co.uk, nma.co.uk and mad.co.uk;
the In-Store Show, Insight Show and Online
Marketing & Media Show (exhibitions); over 60
conferences a year, plus a number of awards
events including the Marketing Week Awards and
New Media Age Awards.

Creative

The Creative community serves the information
needs of the creative specialists in advertising,
design, marketing services and digital agencies
and the managers in client companies who buy
their services.

The key products in the Creative community are:
Design Week (weekly), Creative Review (monthly);
designweek.co.uk, CreativeReview.co.uk; The
Creative Handbook and the Design Week Awards.

In total, Marketing and Creative revenues were flat
although profit was strongly ahead with adjusted
EBITDA increasing by 14% and adjusted EBITDA
margin up 2 percentage points to 17%. The
improvement in profitability partly reflected cost
reductions achieved as part of the organisational
changes announced in February 2008 and in total
this resulted in a 7% reduction in costs in the
second half of the financial year.

In overall terms, revenue growth was held back to
some extent by weakness in the underlying
advertising market particularly where revenues
were derived from marketing services activity
focused on more traditional above-the-line media
and direct marketing. This resulted in the
discontinuation of three events during the prior
year including the DM Show (direct marketing)
and Total Motivation Show (incentives) which
further constrained revenue growth in the current
financial year.

However these reductions were offset by
continued double digit revenue growth from
products targeting the online and interactive
media sector, led principally by the magazine title
– New Media Age – and two associated events
the Online Marketing & Media Show and the
Interactive Marketing Summit which both ran in
the second half of the financial year. 

In total online revenues for the segment grew by
33% in the year. Much of this related to increased
recruitment advertising in MarketingWeek.co.uk
and designweek.co.uk where traffic continued to
build strongly throughout the year and the
potential for both sites was further enhanced by
the repositioning of mad.co.uk as a composite job
aggregator for the marketing, advertising and
design verticals.

The Creative Handbook, acquired in March 2007
was published for the first time under Centaur
ownership in December 2007 and this was
followed in January 2008 by a re-launched and
significantly enhanced online edition which has
been well received by the industry.

Event revenues were flat year-on-year but, as
mentioned above, three underperforming events
were discontinued during the previous financial
year. If these revenues were excluded Marketing
and Creative events revenues grew by 9% in the
year. This growth included a contribution from the
newly launched Data Summit held in Jerez in June
2008 which successfully brought together leading
data service providers with a number of key data
industry decision makers. 

Marketing & Creative

Revenue by
product type %

� Print – 61%
� Events – 24%
� Online – 15%
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Construction

The Construction community has two distinct
segments - business magazines and websites
that serve the building products market niche 
and specialist consumer titles focusing on the
self-build and renovation sectors of the
construction market.

The key products in the Construction
community are: Homebuilding & Renovating,
Move or Improve?, Period Living, ABC&D (all
monthly); Homebuilding.co.uk, Plotfinder.net and
seven Homebuilding & Renovating exhibitions.

Engineering

The Engineering community products are aimed
at engineers working in the UK's engineering
technology community and senior executives in
the companies that supply them, with a particular
emphasis on innovation.

The key products in the Engineering
community are: The Engineer (fortnightly),
Process Engineering (monthly); TheEngineer.co.uk
and Pro-Talk.

Revenues in this segment grew by 6% although
most of this growth related to the Engineering
portfolio while, within the Construction sector,
magazines and websites aimed at the self-build
market continued to be affected by some
weakening of market conditions. This was at least
partly due to constraints on funding for new self
build projects following a contraction in the range
of specialist lenders to the UK mortgage market
but also reflected a more general slowing of activity
in the broader housing market during the year. 

While this affected both advertising and
subscription sales in the core magazine titles –
Homebuilding & Renovating, Move or Improve?
and Period Living – events in this sector were
more resilient with revenues from the National
Homebuilding Show and five regional events
ahead 5% on the prior year. This was despite one
regional homebuilding event, held annually in
Peterborough, missing a year pending a venue
change, with the next show scheduled for 
May 2009.

The Engineering portfolio supported by a continued
resurgence of the UK manufacturing sector
reported strong growth across the product range. 

A 37% increase in recruitment advertising was
split between The Engineer magazine and The
Engineer.co.uk while event revenues more than
doubled year on year with the biennial Metal
Working Production Awards held in April 2008.

In addition the Subcon Show, which was in the
stronger of two alternate years in which it runs
alongside a major trade association show, proved
to be a great success. Attendees were made up
principally of buyers from UK process and
manufacturing companies and they were able to
evaluate over 180 subcontracting suppliers from
across the globe.

Construction & Engineering
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Perfect Information

Perfect Information (“PI”) serves a global audience
of investment banks, corporate stockbrokers,
lawyers, accountants and other corporate
advisory sector desktops. 

PI’s product is “Perfect Filings” which provides
desktop access to an integrated electronic library
of regulatory and corporate filing representing the
most comprehensive and searchable collection in
the market, include quoted company reports and
accounts and company circulars from the UK, US,
Europe and Asia, and one of the largest electronic
international bond prospectus libraries.

A revenue decline for the year of 3% related
principally to the discontinuation of Perfect
Analysis in October 2007 and despite some
slowdown in activity levels among the key
investment banking community revenue from the
Perfect Filings subscriber base was ahead by 2%
for the year.

The discontinuation of Perfect Analysis followed 
a strategic review which recognised that the
investment necessary to bring Perfect Analysis 
to satisfactory commercial success was better
directed towards further development of the core
Perfect Filings product and this investment
continues with significant enhancements planned
for the new financial year.

The underlying profitability of PI was significantly
improved as a result of cost efficiencies achieved
following the strategic review and in the second
half of the year total costs were 23% below 2007
largely due to a reduction in headcount of around
40%, and as a result full year EBITDA margin
improved significantly to 36%.

Revenue by
product type %

� Events – 3%
� Online – 97%
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HR
The HR community focuses on employee benefits
and the information needs of the benefits and
compensation professionals in major UK companies,
plus the senior managers in the companies that
supply them with products and services.

The key products in the HR community are:
Employee Benefits (monthly);
EmployeeBenefits.co.uk; Employee Benefits
Exhibition and Conference (London and
Manchester) and Employee Benefits Awards.

Recruitment
The Recruitment community products serve the
recruitment specialists in the UK – senior
professionals working in recruitment agencies,
search and selection companies, recruitment
consultancies and advertising agencies and the
companies that supply services to them.

The key products in this community are: 
Recruiter (fortnightly); recruiter.co.uk and 
Recruiter Awards.

Supply Chain & Logistics
The Supply Chain & Logistics community provides
information products for managers in charge of
the supply chain of the largest industrial, retail and
commercial organisations in the UK and Europe,
together with the senior managers in the transport,
materials handling and property companies that
supply products and services to them.

The key products in the Supply Chain &
Logistics community are: Logistics Manager
(monthly); LogisticsManager.com; Logistics Link
exhibitions (three regional events); Supply Chain
Excellence Awards and Extended Supply Chain
conference.

Business Travel
Centaur’s Business Travel products are aimed at
satisfying the information needs of the corporate
buyers of business travel and senior managers
amongst their suppliers – airlines, train
companies, hotels, car hire companies etc.

The key products in the Business Travel
community are: Business Travel exhibitions in
London, Dusseldorf and Dubai (joint venture).

Headline Property and
Headline Auto 
These products are extensions of the Headline
Money news alerting service for personal finance
journalists which was first established in 2002.
Headline Property for residential property
journalists and Headline Auto for motoring
correspondents were launched last year.

General Business Services

This segment comprises products serving a
number of distinct business communities. 
The main verticals in this segment are Human
Resources (HR), the Recruitment sector, Supply
Chain and Logistics, Business Travel and the
recently launched information services – Headline
Property and Headline Auto.
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be even bigger than JobServe
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In total, General Business Services revenues grew
by 7% with most of the vertical sectors reporting
strong growth, with the exception of HR where
event revenues were reduced due to a change in
the timing of the EB Summit with two events
reported in the prior year compared to a single
event in the current year.

Business Travel revenues increased by 15% due
to a strong performance from the regional show
held in Düsseldorf, first launched in September
2004, together with a newly launched regional
show in Dubai.

The Dubai show, the first event from the joint
venture with Dnata World of Events announced in
February 2007 was successfully launched in
October 2007, breaking even at contribution level
in its first year and establishing an important
presence for the Business Travel brand in this fast
growing Middle East business hub.

The Recruitment vertical reported revenue growth
of 16% primarily relating to increased event
revenues through both the Recruiter Forum and
industry awards. Revenues from Recruiter
magazine were flat against the prior year although
recruiter.co.uk continued to report rapid growth
albeit from a comparatively small base.

A new magazine title “Resourcing” – aimed at
senior HR managers, in house recruitment
specialists and talent managers was launched in
November 2007 and was published monthly with
effect from February 2008.

The Logistics and Supply Chain products also
reported strong revenue growth with recruitment
advertising volumes building steadily through both
Logistics Manager magazine and its associated
website. 

Headline Property and Headline Auto were
launched towards the end of FY2007 and while
both have built some early stage revenues
progress has been slower than anticipated partly
due to the prevailing trading conditions in the
underlying vertical sectors.

In total, General Business Services adjusted
EBITDA reduced slightly to £1.4 million (FY2007:
£1.5 million) for the year while adjusted EBITDA
margin also reduced by 2 percentage points to
12%. The reduction in profitability reflects the
investment in new product development within
this segment including Business Travel Dubai and
the two recent Headline product launches.

Revenue by
product type %

� Print – 40%
� Events – 54%
� Online – 6%

General Business Services (continued)
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Acquisitions

We continually evaluate businesses with a view 
to supplementing organic growth. While revenue
from acquisitions made in the current or
preceding financial year represented only 1% of
total Group revenue for the year to 30 June 2008
(FY2007: 9%) our acquisition strategy remains
unchanged and will typically seek to identify
targets that meet the following criteria:

(a) The business is operating in a market with
high growth potential and high value,

(b) There is an identifiable high information need
on which to base a range of products,

(c) The business is a market-leader in its
respective sector or capable of achieving market
leadership quickly,

(d) Its key people fit comfortably into Centaur’s
culture.

Having identified suitable targets, we seek to apply
the following financial criteria in assessing valuations:

(e) It should be earnings enhancing and deliver a
minimum 10% post-tax ROI in its first full year of
Centaur ownership,

(f) It should deliver a minimum post-tax IRR of 5
percentage points above Centaur’s post-tax
weighted average cost of capital (currently 10%).

The Board recognises that these financial criteria
are demanding but considers them appropriate to
the acquisition strategy detailed above and in total
the results of the five acquisitions completed since
1 July 2005 have exceeded these financial
performance targets.

Innovation is central to Centaur’s culture and is an
almost constant activity across the whole
portfolio. In the new financial year, we are
continuing to develop new products at a steady
pace. Our current development initiatives include
extending our established brands into new media
and a continued enhancement of market positions
achieved through acquisitions. 

In addition to the ongoing development and
maturing of initiatives mentioned above, we are
currently in the process of developing a number of
new projects across the business. These include
several new events including two exhibition
launches and a number of new summit format
events. In addition the establishment of specialist
research panels in a number of our vertical
markets has progressed steadily and will provide
opportunities for targeted research initiatives in
the new financial year.

The further planned investment in the key
elements of our current web operations (including
the recruitment advertising platform and content
management system) will improve the operation of
a number of existing online products and also
enhance the speed and efficiency of prospective
online product development.

Current Development 
Activity

Notes 
(1) One of Centaur’s key measures of profit is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation,
excluding exceptionals and other significant non-cash items including share based payments (adjusted
EBITDA). In addition, we report adjusted PBT(PBTA) which is profit before tax excluding the impact of
amortisation of acquired intangibles and of exceptional items, and excluding the profit on disposal of
associated undertakings.

(2) Centaur’s product portfolio currently comprises 7 weekly magazines, 3 fortnightly magazines, 14 monthly
magazines, 5 magazines of a quarterly or bi-monthly frequency, 36 online products or services, around 35
awards or other sponsored events, 24 exhibitions and approximately 90 conferences.

(3) Centaur reports its results within 5 distinct segments, namely Legal and Financial, Marketing and
Creative, Construction and Engineering, Perfect Information and General Business Services. The first 3
segments comprise principally the following vertical business communities in which Centaur publishes
market-leading magazine titles: Marketing Services, Creative Services, New Media, Retail Financial
Products, Legal Services, Construction and Engineering. Centaur also enjoys strong positions in a number
of other specialist communities, namely HR, Recruitment, Supply Chain and Logistics and Business Travel. 
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People in Centaur

The Board recognises the need for a clearly defined strategy and well defined
policies in relation to the impact of the Group’s activities on all its key
stakeholders and the broader environment as a whole. The Board has therefore
formulated an approach to CSR which is both complementary to the stated
strategic objectives of the Group but also practical in terms of implementation
of policy and measurement of results.

Centaur’s success depends upon its ability to
keep developing new products and refreshing
existing ones and that in turn depends upon our
ability to attract and retain a highly motivated,
entrepreneurial team of people. In seeking to
achieve this objective, we believe that the
following are the most important factors for us 
to address:

a. Giving our people a sense of
ownership: 

We describe Centaur as a federation of small
businesses, with discrete profit centres serving
individual vertical communities, supported by a
strong central infrastructure of common services
such as Finance, Circulation, Web and IT
Operations and HR. We encourage our people
where appropriate to have a strong sense of
identity with their particular community, business
unit or brand and to think like owners.
Reorganisation carried out in the past year, in the
marketing sector in particular, has served to
underline the importance of our organisational
focus on vertical market communities. 

b. Maintaining unity around a
common vision, strategy and culture:

We seek to provide each of our businesses with a
corporate context of a clearly communicated
vision and strategy and a common culture. We
aim to achieve this through good communication
on a number of levels. In addition to a structure of
formal and informal business community meetings
across the Group, which are attended on a
monthly basis by the CEO and Group FD, a
number of other mechanisms are used to retain a
corporate framework without diluting the strength
derived from the devolved operating structure of
the Group as described above. These include:

• The Group intranet, which provides a daily
update of news and corporate information.

• A monthly email newsletter from the CEO that is
sent to all staff each month highlighting recent
new business developments.

• Senior managers’ attendance at periodic
management seminars to promote and share best
practise across the Group including an internet
forum to ensure specialist expertise is shared
across all areas of the Group. In addition, all
senior managers receive a six monthly update of
company results from the CEO and Group FD.

• The Centaur Awards - an annual dinner held for
all staff to celebrate the outstanding achievements
of the year.

c. Providing competitive rewards: 

Centaur’s culture is meritocratic and in reviewing
remuneration packages, we seek to focus
primarily on individual performance. Individual
reviews are conducted throughout the year and
tend to occur on the anniversary of joining. 
We aim to provide financial rewards and a range
of associated benefits that are competitive within
our sector. 

d. Providing effective resources: 

Centaur’s management style is intended to
incorporate a high level of coaching to support
and promote superior performance. This is
supplemented by an in-house programme of
entry-level training programmes. We have
successfully run the Centaur Sales Training
Academy, a more extended training programme
for new sales recruits. In addition we have
significantly increased our investment in formal
training to provide support to all members of staff.
This has included the recruitment of extra 
training staff. 

e. Listening to our staff: 

Following the receipt and analysis of results from
the YouGov employee engagement survey the
Group has taken a number of actions to address
issues of concern raised therein. The Group
intends to repeat the survey periodically both to
ascertain the efficacy of the actions taken and to
emphasis the continuing importance of listening 
to our staff.
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The Environment
Progress has been made during the year to 
both introduce new initiatives and to objectively
measure their success in addressing
environmental issues:

Purchase of paper and printing – 

The Group sources all its magazine paper grades
from mills that hold valid forestry certification
scheme accreditation, which ensures its pulp is
sourced from well managed and sustainable
forests. All mills have ISO 14001 and with the
exception of one small specialist mill, EMAS
accreditation. 

Centaur uses 100% recycled paper made from
post consumer recovered paper fibres on titles
such as The Lawyer and The Engineer. While our
primary commitment is to use certified paper from
sustainable forests for all UK titles by the end of
2008, it is the intention that we will also increase
recycled paper content over time, where
appropriate and where that will genuinely reduce
the Group’s CO2 carbon footprint.

Disposal of waste & recycling – 

A major recycling initiative has recently been
introduced at the Company’s head office to
separate and recycle all (a) paper; and (b)
cardboard, bottles, cans and plastic. The same
recycling initiative will be “rolled out” in the other
West End offices and if feasible in the City office.
Statistics on the success of this initiative will be
available in the next annual financial statement.

The Bromsgrove office has been recycling paper
for over a year and in the last financial year over
6.3 tons was recycled. 

The paper recycling also includes returned
magazines although measures have been taken 
to reduce these returns and these measures have
contributed to the achievement of a reduction 
of returns in the London offices of some 8% in 
the year.

Packaging and distribution of
magazines – 

Following advice on its efficacy it has been
decided not to use biodegradable plastic for
wrappers but to source lighter weight plastic that
can be recycled and this policy is being adopted.

Toner Inks – 

All toner cartridges and computer equipment
continue to be recycled where possible. In order
to reduce the consumption of toner cartridges
computers are linked to photocopiers for printing
purposes in most areas of the business.
Consequently there has been a reduction of
printer toner cartridges purchased by the West
End offices, the biggest users, of some 21% in
the year. 

Reducing the carbon footprint – 

During the year the Company appointed The
Carbon Trust to undergo an audit and a number
of recommendations were made. As a result, a
number of actions have been implemented, and
we are investigating further solutions to improve
the efficiency of our energy consumption.

The Community
There is no Group policy to make corporate
contributions to charities or political parties.
However, there are occasions when such
contributions are made in response to a particular
request and these are detailed in the Report of
the Directors.

A number of Centaur’s magazines encourage
giving to various charities through the relevant
magazine’s award events. In the year donations
were made through this method to CLAPA (Cleft
Lip and Palette Association), The Samaritans,
Great Ormond Street Children's Charity, The Kids
Company and The Children's Trust.



The strength of free cash flow generation,
representing the cash available for the
stakeholders of the Group, has continued to
be a strong feature of the Group’s financial
performance this year, increasing by 10% 
to £17.1 million
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Revenue from 
continuing operations 

Total Group revenues from continuing operations
for the year ended 30 June 2008 were unchanged
for the year although advertising sales were 2%
ahead led by 27% growth in online advertising
sales. In total 21% of advertising sales are now
fulfilled online compared to 17% a year ago.

Revenues derived from audiences (principally
content sales through online or magazine
subscriptions) represented 22% (FY2007: 23%) 
of total Group sales although growth was partly
constrained by the discontinuation of Perfect
Analysis. 

Revenue from acquisitions made in the current or
preceding financial year represented only 1% of
that for the total Group (FY2007: 9%) reflecting a
lower level of recent acquisition activity compared
to the preceding two years (FY2005-FY2007) in
which 8 bolt-on or in-fill acquisitions were
completed. The acquisition strategy of the Group
remains unchanged and is described on page 23
of the Business Review.

New product development remains an important
focus for the Group and in total 11% of Group
revenues (FY2007: 12%) were derived from
products launched in the last three financial years.
A full description of this ongoing schedule of new
product launches is included in the Business
Review on page 23.

Profit for the year from continuing
operations before taxation

Profit for the year from continuing operations
before taxation decreased by 14% to £14.5
million (FY2007: £16.9 million). 

After adjusting for exceptional administrative costs
and amortisation of acquired intangible assets
adjusted profit before tax increased by 14% to
£19.2m (FY2007: 16.9m).

The exceptional administrative costs incurred in
the period amounted to £3.6 million and these are
described in more detail below and in note 2 to
the financial statements. To ensure the underlying
performance of the Group is presented in the
income statement the Board considers the
Group’s earnings before interest, tax, depreciation,
amortisation, exceptional costs and other
significant non-cash items including share 

based payments (“adjusted EBITDA”) to be an
important and consistent measure of profitability
and in addition the adjusted EBITDA margin is
one of the key performance indicators used by
the Board to monitor and manage the business. 

Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 30 June
2008 was £21.5 million compared to £19.7 million
in the year ended 30 June 2007. This represents
an adjusted EBITDA margin of 24% (FY2007: 22%).

An analysis of revenue and adjusted EBITDA from
continuing operations by segment, product type,
underlying/acquired and maturity as well as an
analysis of revenue by source and client type is
included in the Business Review on page 13 and
the different measures of profit described above
are summarised in the following table:

Continuing operations 2008 2007

£m £m

Revenue 90.4 90.3

Adjusted EBITDA 21.5 19.7

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (0.8) (0.8)
Amortisation of software (1.5) (1.9)
Share based payments (0.2) (0.4)
Interest receivable 0.2 0.2
Share of post-tax profit from associate - 0.1

Adjusted PBT 19.2 16.9

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.1) (0.7)
Exceptional administrative costs (3.6) -
Profit on sale of associate - 0.7

Profit before taxation 14.5 16.9

Mike Lally
Group Finance Director
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2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Actual Actual Actual Actual Pro-forma

IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS UK GAAP

£m £m £m £m £m

Cash generated from operations 19.0 18.2 14.4 9.6 7.4
Exceptional items – cash impact 1.2 - - 0.5 (0.2)
Capital expenditure (3.1) (2.6) (3.0) (2.5) (2.1)

Free cash flow 17.1 15.6 11.4 7.6 5.1

Operating profit 14.3 15.9 14.7 8.9 5.5
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1.1 0.7 0.3 - -
Exceptional (credit)/ costs 3.6 - (2.2) 0.6 0.1

Adjusted operating profit 19.0 16.6 12.8 9.4 5.6

Cash conversion rate 90% 94% 89% 81% 91%

Exceptional administrative cost

Within administrative expenses for the year ended
30 June 2008 an amount of £3.6 million has been
identified as exceptional for the purpose of
calculating both adjusted EBITDA and adjusted
profit before tax. (FY2007: nil)

In total this expenditure, separately disclosed in
the income statement and the component parts
detailed in note 2 to the financial statements, have
been identified as exceptional by nature in
accordance with the statement of accounting
policies laid out on pages 54 to 57. 

In total around £1.2 million of the exceptional
expenditure is represented by an outflow of cash
from the Group in the year to 30 June 2008,
principally in the form of redundancy payments,
and it is anticipated a comparable level of cost
savings will accrue to the Group over the course
of a full year as a result of the organisational
changes that have given rise to these payments. 

The balance of the expenditure is a combination
of accelerated amortisation of software relating to
the discontinued product Perfect Analysis (£1.2
million), and adjustments to share based
payments in respect of redundant staff (£0.1
million). In addition the exceptional costs include a
provision in respect of empty office space
amounting to £0.5 million reflecting the onerous

element of an additional short term property rental
commitment at 30 June 2008 that has been
entered into to facilitate the changes to the
Group’s main London premises that have arisen
following the restructuring of the business during
the year. 

Revenue per employee

Revenue per employee for the year ended 
30 June 2008 decreased by 5% to £115,000.
(FY2007: £121,000)

As reported in note 5 to the financial statements
this is based on an average number of persons
employed during the year of 786 (FY2007: 759)
however at 30 June 2008 the total numbers of
persons employed by the Group had reduced to
773 and further reductions achieved since the
start of the new financial year will help to improve
this ratio. 

Free cash flow 

Free cash flow (“FCF”) is defined as cash generated
from operations (note 25 to the financial statements)
less capital expenditure required to maintain the
asset base of the Group, (property, plant and
equipment and computer software) and after
adjusting for any exceptional cash items.

The strength of FCF generation, representing the
cash available for the stakeholders of the Group,
has continued to be a strong feature of the Group’s
financial performance this year, increasing by 10%
to £17.1 million (FY2007 : £15.6 million). This
growth was constrained by a 19% increase in
capital expenditure which primarily reflected a
number of ongoing web and data related projects
including the development of a standardised web
platform for recruitment advertising sales, an
integrated magazine and web content management
system and an enhanced customer database to
facilitate stronger sales relationships across the
Group. In addition the Group is undertaking a major
refurbishment of office accommodation in its two
main London properties. 

The cash conversion ratio (FCF to adjusted
operating profit) was 90% for the year (FY2007:
94%) and continued to reflect a high level of cash
generation from prepaid event revenues and
continued efficiency improvements in the cash
collection process. As mentioned on page 16 of the
business review, the decrease in the cash
conversion ratio reflects an increased level of capital
expenditure in the current financial year.

A 5 year summary of FCF and adjusted
operating profit is presented below:
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Balance sheet and share capital
reduction

The Board holds a mandate to purchase up to
10% of the Company's issued share capital and
during the period, the Company acquired
7,550,000 of its own shares through open market
purchases representing 5.05% of issued share
capital at the start of the financial year. The total
amount paid to acquire the shares was £7.9 million
and this has been deducted from shareholders’
equity. The shares are held as treasury shares and
will be used in the first instance to satisfy any new
share issuance required as a result of the long term
incentive plans described in note 22 to the financial
statements, after which the remaining balance will
be cancelled.

The ability to finance these share purchases from
existing cash resources underpins the continued
strength of the Group’s balance sheet and if the
consideration for the share purchase is excluded
cash and cash equivalents increased by £5.6
million in the period after paying dividends of £5.4
million and after repaying £1.0 million to the
holders of loan notes in Centaur Media plc.
Excluding funds held in respect of these loan
notes the cash available for use by the Group in
its day to day operations was £7.7 million at 30
June 2008 (FY2007: £9.0 million).

Other movements in net assets include a £0.8
million decrease in deferred tax assets principally
relating to the share options where the potential
value of future tax deductions are reduced as a
result of changes in the share price of Centaur
Media plc during the year. This is described
further in the taxation section of the financial
review detailed below. Trade receivables reduced
by £2.3 million in the year reflecting a
strengthening of customer credit terms and
improved cash collections. At 30 June 2008 trade
receivables amounted to £10.6 million (after an
impairment provision of £0.4 million) and
expressed as the number of days of total Group
revenue outstanding this equates to 43 days
compared to 52 days a year ago.

Earnings per Share (“EPS”)

Basic EPS for the year was 6.7p, a decrease of
18% (FY2007: 8.2p). Adjusted basic EPS was
9.2p and this represents an increase of 12%
(FY2007: 8.2p).

The basis for calculating adjusted EPS is
consistent with the calculation of adjusted PBT
described above and full details of the EPS
calculations are presented in note 7 to the
financial statements.

Taxation

Tax on profit on ordinary activities amounted to
£5.0 million in the year ended 30 June 2008
(FY2007: £4.6 million). 

Taking into account the tax effect of adjustments
to arrive at adjusted PBT, this represents an
effective tax rate of 31% (FY2007: 28%) of
adjusted PBT.

The year on year increase in the effective tax rate,
which exceeds the standard rate of UK
corporation tax rate (29.5%), relates principally to
share options where charges taken to the income
statement in the year included £0.5 million relating
to a reduction in the value of the deferred tax
asset in respect of outstanding share options. 
The value of this asset is based on the expected
deduction that will arise under Schedule 23
Finance Act 2003 when options are exercised and
is calculated partly by reference to current share
price. At 30 June 2008 the market price was 65.8
pence compared to 133.0 pence a year ago and
the carrying value of the deferred tax asset was
adjusted accordingly. 

The net deferred tax position at 30 June 2008 is a
liability of £0.4 million (FY2007: £0.4 million asset)
and the movement includes a £0.1 million charge,
taken directly to equity, in respect of share options
granted before 7th November 2002.

Dividends 

A final dividend of 3.0p per share is proposed,
giving a total for the year of 4.2p (FY2007: 3.5p).
The final dividend is subject to shareholder
approval at the annual general meeting and will 
be paid on 20 November 2008 to all ordinary
shareholders on the register at close of business
on 24 October 2008. The Company has sufficient
reserves to cover the recommended dividend.

Treasury policy

Treasury is managed centrally and is principally
concerned with managing working capital and
seeking to maximise returns on available short
term cash deposits. Further details of the
operation of the Group’s treasury functions and 
a description of the role that financial instruments
have had during the year in the management of
the Group’s funding and liquidity risks and interest
and foreign exchange rate risks are contained in
the “financial instruments” notes to the financial
statements (note 26).



FINANCIAL REVIEW

Centaur Media plc – Annual Report
Year ended 30 June 200830

Principal risks and uncertainties 

Specific business risks to which the Group is
exposed are detailed below and as described in
the Corporate Governance Report on page 36 
the Board has implemented a comprehensive risk
management process to identify, monitor and
mitigate these risks.

Exposure to the economy

Centaur’s products and markets are predominantly
UK based and as a result the Group’s performance
is broadly linked to the strength of the UK
economy and general economic factors such as
inflation, currency fluctuation, interest rates,
supply and demand of capital and industrial
disruption therefore have the potential to affect
the Group’s operations, business and profitability.
While these macro economic factors are beyond
the control of the Group, specific exposure to
interest rate and currency risk is minimal and in
addition the range of markets served by Centaur’s
products together with the continuing strategy of
extending the reach of established brands through
the delivery of new products in a diverse range of
media formats provides some ability to spread
this exposure. 

Dependence on advertising 

In total, advertising revenues represented 56% of
Group revenue in the year ended 30 June 2008
(FY2007 : 55%) and changes in advertising trends,
particularly away from traditional magazine formats
could have an impact on the Group’s profitability.
However the diversity of served markets and
strength of brands, which in most cases includes a
number of market leading positions together with
continued brand diversification into alternative
media formats all serve to limit this exposure. While
in total the overall concentration of advertising sales
has increased during this financial year this includes
27% growth in online advertising which now accounts
for 21% of all adverting sales across the Group.

Growth strategy

The Group seeks to launch or acquire new titles,
conferences, exhibitions and other brand
extensions. It is essential that the Group
successfully develops and markets these
products and integrates acquired businesses. 
The proven record of organic growth over the
past several years, and the successful integration
of several businesses acquired over the same
time period clearly demonstrate the Group’s ability
to deliver this strategy.

Competitor activity

A number of products exist that compete directly
or indirectly with the Group’s resulting in a highly
competitive market. Domestic and international
competitors market their products to the Group’s
target audiences. New technology, changing
commercial circumstances and new entrants to
the markets in which the Group operates may
adversely affect the Group’s business. A key
element of the Group’s strategy is to develop and
maintain a deep understanding of the information
needs of the markets it serves and by maintaining
the highest standards of editorial integrity it aims
to ensure that the provision of information remains
commercially aligned with and relevant to the
markets it serves. Through these means the
Group can continually adapt and develop existing
products thus protecting market leading positions
and thereby limiting the opportunities for
competitors to secure an advantage.

Dependence on key personnel

The Group’s future success is substantially
dependent on the continued services and
continuing contributions of its Directors, senior
management and other key personnel. The loss of
the services of any of the Group’s executive
officers or other key employees could have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business.
The entrepreneurial culture of the Group and the
incentive programmes in place enable the Group
to attract and retain the key management team.

Reliance on information systems

Certain divisions of the Group are dependent on
the efficient and uninterrupted operation of their IT
and computer systems and of services from third-
party providers. The Group has taken precautions
to limit its exposure to the risk of material
disruption to systems. 

Key performance indicators (KPIs)

The key strategic objectives of the Group are
described in the Business Review on page 15 
and are summarised below:

• To achieve critical mass in high value growth
markets 

• To deliver double digit growth in revenues
across the cycle 

• To balance portfolio revenues across print,
online and events

• To expand audience share of revenues 

• To increase adjusted EBITDA margins to 25%.

The Board uses a range of performance indicators
to monitor progress against these objectives and
manage the business. The indicators which the
Board considers to be important are as follows:

• Revenue growth by revenue type

• Adjusted EBITDA margin

• Revenue per employee

• Adjusted PBT

• Adjusted EPS

• Cash conversion rate.
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In addition to monitoring progress against stated
strategic objectives this range of measures
provides the Group’s stakeholders an opportunity
to assess progress made within each reporting
period towards a number of commercial and
financial objectives and in addition, by adopting
measures that are commonly reported by other
members of Centaur’s peer group, to facilitate a
comparison of performance against other similar
companies in the sector. Other specific aims of
the adopted performance measures are as follows:

• To indicate the spread and breadth of Centaur’s
operating business models and their relative
importance in each reporting period

• To remove the impact of non-recurring
exceptional credits or expenditure (and any
related tax effect of those exceptional items) thus
ensuring the indicators are closely aligned with the
underlying, continuing aspects of the Group’s
trading performance

• To indicate the strong cash generative nature of
the Group

• To remove the impact of non-cash credits or
expenditure from the measures of earnings to
ensure the indicators are closely aligned to the
cash generative nature of the Group’s assets

• To indicate the strong operational gearing
associated with the Group’s revenue growth. 

2008 2007

% %
Revenue growth by revenue type 
Magazines (2%) 14%
Events 0% 9%
Online products 11% 23%
Other (56%) (50%)

Total 0% 12%

% %
Adjusted EBITDA margin (1) 24% 22%

£000 £000
Revenue per employee – continuing operations 115 121

£m £m
Adjusted PBT (2) 19.2 16.9

Pence Pence
Adjusted EPS (3) 9.2 8.2

% %
Cash conversion rate (4) 90% 94%

Notes:
(1) One of Centaur’s key measures of profit, which is used to measure the relative performance of divisional
units of the Group, is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, excluding exceptional
items and other significant non-cash items including share based payments (Adjusted EBITDA). Refer to
page 27.

(2) Adjusted PBT (PBTA) is profit before tax, excluding the impact of amortisation of acquired intangibles
and of exceptional items and excluding the profit on disposal of associated undertakings. Refer to page 27.

(3) Adjusted EPS is based on the basic EPS but after making adjustments for amortisation on acquired
intangibles and exceptional items and excluding the profit on disposal of associated undertakings, as
detailed in note 7 to the financial statements.

(4) Cash conversion rate is free cash flow expressed as a percentage of adjusted operating profit. Free
cash flow is defined as cash generated from operations (note 25 to the financial statements), less capital
expenditure on property, plant and equipment and software, and excluding the cash impact of exceptional
items. Adjusted operating profit is operating profit after making adjustments for amortisation on acquired
intangibles and exceptional items. Refer to page 28.
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Graham Sherren
Chairman

Graham has spent most of his career running
business-to-business publishing companies
starting in 1964 with Product Journal Limited. In
1968, Product Journal Limited was acquired by
Morgan Grampian plc. He ran Morgan Grampian
(including subsequent to its takeover by Trafalgar
House Investments plc) until 1982 when he
established Centaur Communications.

Geoffrey Wilmot
Chief Executive Officer 

Geoff joined Centaur Communications in
September 1998 as Group Finance Director and
became Chief Executive Officer in November
2006. He qualified as a chartered accountant with
Binder Hamlyn in 1979. Immediately prior to
joining Centaur Communications, he was Chief
Financial Officer of the legal and professional
division within Thomson Corporation. He has also
previously worked for Morgan Crucible plc in a
variety of roles and as Finance Director of Dexion
Group plc and Scruttons plc.

Michael Lally 
Group Finance Director

Mike joined Centaur in April 2001 as UK Finance
Director and was appointed to the Board as
Group Finance Director in November 2006. 
He has extensive experience of the Media and
Entertainment sector having held senior financial
and management positions at the Financial Times,
United News and Media Reuters and immediately
prior to joining Centaur was Finance Director of
the Informa Publishing group.

Ian Roberts
Company Secretary

Ian joined Centaur in May 2000 becoming
Company Secretary in October 2000. He qualified
as a chartered accountant in 1974. Prior to joining
Centaur he was Managing Director of CBS Private
Capital Limited, a Lloyd’s members’ agent, and a
partner of Neville Russell now Mazars. He
previously worked for financial advisory company,
Partridge, Muir and Warren.
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Patrick Taylor
Senior Non-Executive Director

Patrick was formerly Chief Executive Officer of
GWR Group plc, the UK¹s largest commercial
radio group ranked by licences and audiences.
Before joining GWR, Patrick was Group Finance
Director of Capital Radio plc. A qualified chartered
accountant, Patrick began his career at Coopers
& Lybrand and became a partner with the practice
in 1980, specialising in corporate finance. He is a
Non-Executive Director of The Future Network plc.

Colin Morrison
Non-Executive Director

Colin is a former journalist who has managed
magazines, newspapers and online businesses
across Europe, the US and the AsiaPacific, for
Australian Consolidated Press, Emap, Reed
Elsevier, Future, and Axel Springer. He is chairman
of Royal Pharmaceutical Society Publishing and
also of the Royal Wanstead Children's
Foundation.

Thomas Scruby
Non-Executive Director

Tom was appointed a Director of Centaur
Communications in 1989. Since qualifying as a
chartered accountant in 1957, he has 
held senior executive and non-
executive positions in a range of public and
private commercial businesses and corporate
finance advisory organisations.

Christopher Satterthwaite
Non-Executive Director

Chris began his commercial career as a graduate
trainee at H.J Heinz. Since his grounding on the
client side, he has been part of three different kind
of marketing communication agencies, IMP 1981-
1993, then the UK’s largest Sales Promotion and
Direct Marketing agency; HHCL & Partners 1993-
2000, Campaign’s Advertising Agency of the
Decade; Bell Pottinger 2000-2002, the UK’s
leading Public Relations agency. Chris was
appointed Chief Executive of Chime
Communications PLC in 2002.
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Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the creation and dissemination 
of business and professional information through publications, exhibitions,
conferences and electronic products. Centaur Media plc is a holding
company, which also provides management services to the Group.

Business review

The key performance indicators which management consider are 
important comprise:

• Revenue growth by revenue type

• Adjusted EBITDA margin 

• Revenue per employee 

• Adjusted PBT

• Adjusted EPS 

• Cash conversion rate. 

These can be found within the Financial Review on pages 26 to 31 together
with details of the principal risks facing the Group. The Business Review
includes details of the Group’s activities and future developments and is on
pages 12 to 23. 

Dividends

A final dividend of 3.0 pence per share is proposed by the Directors, and
subject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting, will be paid
on 20 November 2008 to ordinary shareholders on the register at the close
of business on 24 October 2008. With the interim dividend of 1.2 pence per
share this will make a total dividend of 4.2 pence per share for the year.

Share capital and substantial shareholdings

Details of the share capital are set out in note 21 to the financial statements.
As at 31 August 2008 notifications of interests at or above 3% in the issued
share capital of the Company had been received from the following:

Jupiter Asset Management Limited 12.69%
Aberforth Partners LLP 10.10%
FIL Limited 9.45%
Graham Veere Sherren (inc spouse) 6.04%
Legal & General Group PLC 5.97%
Lloyds TSB Group PLC 5.24%
Schroders Investment Management 5.17%
Griffin Land and Nurseries Inc 4.16%
Standard Life Investment Limited 3.22%

During the year, the Company acquired 7,550,000 Ordinary shares of 10p
each in Centaur Media plc, representing 5.03% of the issued share capital 
of the Company as at 30 June 2008, for a total consideration of £7.9 million.
The shares are held in treasury.

Directors and Directors’ interests
The Directors of the Company during the year are detailed on page 90. All
Directors served from 1 July 2007 unless otherwise stated.

The Directors’ interests in share options, long-term incentive plans and the
Sharesave plan is disclosed in the Directors’ Report on Remuneration on
pages 44 and 45. GV Sherren purchased 100,000 shares on 10 July 2008
and 113,961 shares on 14 July 2008. There have been no other changes to
the Directors’ interests since the year end. 

The Directors of Centaur Media plc (the “Company” and “the Group”) present
their Report on the affairs of the Group together with audited Financial
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2008. 

No. of ordinary Shares No. of ordinary
shares held at acquired during shares held at
30 June 2007 the year 30 June 2008

GV Sherren 7,700,039 386,000 8.086,039
(In wife’s ownership) 428,270 - 428,270

JPE Taylor 100,000 50,000 150,000
C Morrison 100,000 55,000 155,000
BTR Scruby 232,313 200,000 432,313
A Irby (resigned 29 November 2007) 35,465 - N/a
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Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

By virtue of article 206 of the Articles of Association of the Company, a
qualifying indemnity provision (within the meaning given by section 309B (1)
of the Companies Act 1985) is in force at the date of this report in respect of
each Director of the Company and was in force from 8 December 2005. 

Payment of creditors

It is the Group’s policy to agree credit arrangements with suppliers as part of
the general terms of supply. Payment is then made in accordance with these
terms provided the goods and services have been delivered in accordance
with the agreed terms and conditions. The number and diversity of supply
relationships means the Group pursues no formal code or policy beyond this.
The Company had no trade creditors at 30 June 2008 or 30 June 2007.

Employment policy

The Group is an equal opportunities employer and appoints employees
without reference to age, sex, ethnic group or religious beliefs.

It is the Group’s policy to give full consideration to suitable applications for
employment by disabled persons. Opportunities also exist for employees of
the Group who become disabled to continue in their employment or to be
trained for other positions in the Group.

All companies within the Group actively encourage employee involvement at
all levels, both through regular employee briefings and by direct access to
managers and the Directors. In addition, the Share incentive plan and the
Sharesave plan as described in note 22 launched during the year, encourage
employees’ participation in the Group’s performance.

Charitable donations

In the year the Group made a donation of £1,000 to Save the Family at a
charity auction and £1,000 to Wynkyn de Worde Charitable Trust.

Financial instruments

A statement in relation to the use of financial instruments by the Group is
shown in note 26 to the financial statements. 

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’
Remuneration Report and the Financial Statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group and
parent Company financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. In
preparing these financial statements, the Directors have also elected to
comply with IFRSs, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or
loss of the Group for that period. 

In preparing those financial statements the Directors are required to: 

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

• State that the financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in business, in which
case there should be supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.
This statement should cover both the parent Company and the Group as 
a whole.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements
in preparing the financial statements. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial statements, 
article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Group web site, www.centaur.co.uk. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Auditors

The Directors confirm that, so far as the Directors are aware, there is no
relevant audit information (that is, information needed by the Company's
auditors in connection with preparing their report) of which the Company's
auditors are unaware, and the Directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are
aware of that information.

A resolution is to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting for the 
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

By order of the Board

IPH Roberts
Secretary 

17 September 2008
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Statement of compliance with the Combined Code

The Board of Centaur Media plc is accountable to the Company’s shareholders
for good Corporate Governance and in doing so is committed to the principles
outlined in the 2006 FRC Combined Code on Corporate Governance. 

The statement below describes how the principles of Corporate Governance
are applied and the extent of the Company’s compliance with the provisions
set out in Section 1 of the 2006 FRC Combined Code. The Company has
complied with the 2006 FRC Combined Code throughout the financial year
subject to the fact that a Non-Executive Director who is not independent was
a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees until his resignation
from these committees effective 29 November 2007. 

Furthermore, Graham Sherren, who is not independent and formerly held the
role of Chairman and Chief Executive, remains as Non-Executive Chairman. 

The Board of Directors 

The Group is controlled through its Board of Directors. The Board recognises
its responsibility to the Company’s shareholders. It does this by providing
entrepreneurial leadership, whilst ensuring controls are established that
enable the effective monitoring and management of risk. 

The Board is responsible for the Group’s systems of Corporate Governance
and is ultimately accountable for the Group’s activities and strategy by
ensuring the right financial and human resources are in place. 

Board process

The Board is accountable to shareholders for ensuring that the Group is
appropriately managed and achieves the strategic objectives agreed by the
Board. In accordance with the Combined Code, the Board has established
guidelines requiring specific matters to be discussed by the full Board of
Directors, such as: 

• The commencement of any major new and/or different business activity.

• Material acquisitions and disposals.

• Material investments and capital projects.

• The Group’s internal controls and risk management policies, including
insurance and material litigation.

• Overall budgetary planning, treasury planning and business strategy.

• Review of the functioning of the Board Committees.

The Board meets at least six times each year. The Directors receive the
Board papers in advance of each meeting.

The Board has a procedure through which the Directors are able to take
independent advice in the furtherance of their responsibilities. The Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, Ian
Roberts. He is also secretary to all the Board Committees. In addition, the
Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters and provides
ongoing training through the regular dissemination of relevant legislative and
regulatory updates and external reports. The Company Secretary is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that
applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

The Board has established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee
and a Nomination Committee with formally delegated duties and
responsibilities within written terms of reference prescribed by the Board, all
of which are available on the Company’s website (www.centaur.co.uk). Non-
members may attend these committee meetings by invitation although no
Director can attend a meeting, or part of a meeting where he could have a
conflict of interest.
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Performance evaluation

The Directors are constantly evaluated against performance and commitment
to their roles and duties as Directors. The Chairman addresses weakness
and, where appropriate, proposes new members to be appointed and seeks
the resignations of Directors of the Board.

A new form of evaluation of Directors was undertaken during the year, the
results of which were reported to the Board by the Company Secretary. The
Chairman then held discussions with individual Directors as necessary. No
significant problems were identified. 

Board committees

The number of scheduled full Board meetings and Committee meetings
during the year to 30 June 2008 along with attendance of Directors was
as follows: 

Scheduled Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings

No of meetings held 7 3 5 1

Graham Sherren 7 n/a n/a 1
Geoffrey Wilmot 7 n/a n/a n/a
Michael Lally 7 n/a n/a n/a
Thomas Scruby * 6 1 1 n/a
Patrick Taylor 7 3 5 1
Colin Morrison 6 3 5 1
Alton Irby * - - - -
Christopher Satterthwaite 6 3 4 1

* Alton Irby resigned from the Board and Tom Scruby resigned from all
Committees effective 29 November 2007.

Board balance and independence

During FY2008, the Board comprised two Executive Directors, Geoffrey
Wilmot and Michael Lally, and five Non-Executive Directors, including the
chairman who became Non-Executive from 6 December 2007. It is
recognised that the retention of Graham Sherren in the role of non-
independent Chairman, having formerly held the role of Chief Executive
Officer, will not satisfy the 2006 FRC Combined Code. However, this was
discussed with major shareholders prior to the decision being made and the
Board believes that Graham Sherren’s continuation as Chairman is vital in
continuing to give the Group the benefit of his considerable experience and
knowledge of the publishing industry.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer and this split was outlined in detail in the 2007
Corporate Governance Statement. 

Three of the Non-Executive Directors, Patrick Taylor, Colin Morrison and
Christopher Satterthwaite are considered by the Board to be ‘independent’
of management for the purposes of the 2006 FRC Combined Code and have
no relationships that may interfere with their independent judgement and
thus in this regard the requirements of the 2006 FRC Combined Code are
satisfied. As previously reported, Christopher Satterthwaite was appointed as
a Non-Executive Director from 1 July 2007 and Alton Irby resigned from the
board on 29 November 2007.

Alton Irby was a Non-Executive Director of Centaur Communications Ltd until
August 1998 but the Board does not believe that this is relevant in
establishing his independence status under the 2006 FRC Combined Code.
He resigned from the Board on 29 November 2007. In addition the Board is
strengthened by the presence of the fourth Non-Executive Director, Tom
Scruby, who was a Director of Centaur Communications Ltd from 1989 to
2004. In view of this he does not satisfy the independence criteria of the
2006 FRC Combined Code. Although the Board continues to believe that
Tom Scruby brings substantial benefit to the Board through both his external
experience and his knowledge of Centaur he decided to resign from the
Audit and Remuneration Committees effective 29 November 2007.

Patrick Taylor has been appointed senior Non-Executive Director.

All Directors are subject to re-election at least every three years but have
chosen to stand for re-election annually. 



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

Centaur Media plc – Annual Report
Year ended 30 June 200838

The Audit Committee

Patrick Taylor chairs the Audit Committee and its other members are Colin
Morrison and Christopher Satterthwaite. All members of this committee are
Non-Executive Directors. 

The Audit Committee meets at least twice each year. In addition Patrick
Taylor meets with the external auditors at least annually on a one to one
basis. The Chief Executive Officer and the Group Finance Director and
external auditors attend for part or all of each meeting. The external auditors
have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and its Chairman. 
The Audit Committee considers all matters relating to financial policies,
internal control and reporting, appointment and re-appointment of external
auditors, the scope and results of the audits, the independence and
objectivity of the auditors and ensures that an effective system of internal
financial control is maintained. 

The Group does not have an internal audit function. The Group believes that
the internal controls established are strong and therefore an additional
internal audit function is not currently required. The Audit Committee annually
reviews that position.

An Internal Control Review has been conducted by management and a
report has been submitted to the Audit Committee; no major control issues
were identified.

The Audit Committee has reviewed arrangements for whistleblowing and has
put a policy in place. The policy encourages a culture of openness and seeks
to reassure employees that by reporting issues of concern they will not suffer
victimisation or detriment. Employees are required to raise issues in the first
instance with their line manager or, if this is a problem, with the Human
Resources Director or in exceptional cases with the Chief Executive Officer or
Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

The Group is committed, whenever appropriate, to investigate fully any
concern raised in a timely manner and where an investigation confirms
wrongdoing to take the necessary disciplinary or legal action. The Group will,
wherever possible and without infringing confidentiality, keep the
“whistleblower” informed of the outcome of enquiries and decisions taken
with regard to the matter. Guidance is also given to raising matters externally.

Centaur’s external auditors may not provide any non-audit service that poses
a significant threat to the auditors’ objectivity or independence. Centaur’s
auditors have confirmed that they are independent and do so on an annual
basis. During the year Centaur underwent a competitive tender process for
the provision of tax compliance services and, as a result, these services are
no longer provided by the auditors. 

The auditors have been in post since 2000 but for only for five years as
auditors of a listed company (Centaur was listed in March 2004). The Group
will be reviewing their appointment in 2009.

The Remuneration Committee

Patrick Taylor chairs the Remuneration Committee and its other members are
Colin Morrison and Christopher Satterthwaite. All members of this committee
are Non-Executive Directors. 

The Remuneration Committee meets at least twice each year. The Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer may be invited to attend meetings, if the
Remuneration Committee considers it appropriate. The Remuneration
Committee will consider all material elements of remuneration policy including
the remuneration and incentives of Executive Directors and senior
management. The Executive Directors determine the remuneration of the
Non-Executive Directors.

Hewitt New Bridge Street Consultants (HNBSC) is appointed as remuneration
consultants to the Remuneration Committee. HNBSC advises the Committee
directly on matters within the Committee’s terms of reference on which the
Committee chooses to consult HNBSC.

HNBSC advises the Board (or those Directors charged by the Board to 
make recommendations) from time to time on the remuneration of 
Non-Executive Directors.

The Company Secretary, with reference to independent remuneration
research and professional advice and in accordance with the 2006 FRC
Combined Code, also will provide regular updates to the Board on the
framework for executive remuneration and its cost. The Board is then
responsible for implementing the recommendations and agreeing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and the Company Secretary.
The Directors are not permitted under the Articles to vote on their own terms
and conditions of remuneration. 

The Nomination Committee

Graham Sherren chairs the Nomination Committee and its other members
are Colin Morrison, Patrick Taylor and Christopher Satterthwaite. 

The Nomination Committee ensures that there is in place a formal, rigorous
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to the
Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring that the 
right calibre of person and balance of skills is maintained on the Board. 
This committee meets at least annually and as required will make
recommendations to the Board on new appointments to the Board. 
When the Nomination Committee is considering the appointment of a
successor to the Chairman, Patrick Taylor chairs this committee.
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Internal control

The Board recognises its responsibility to present a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. Centaur Media plc’s
structure of accountability and audit operates as follows:

The Board has accountability for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal controls. This relates to all controls, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management matters. 

An ongoing process, in accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull
Committee on internal control, is established for identifying, evaluating and
managing risks faced by the Group. The Directors recognise that they are
responsible for systems of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness
and this they have done throughout the year. The risk management process
and systems of internal control are designed to only manage rather than
eliminate risk. The risk of failure to achieve business objectives has been
reviewed regularly by the Board throughout the year.

The Board has delegated responsibility for such reviews to the Audit
Committee, which receives the relevant reports from various committees and
individuals to assist it in its assessment of these controls. It is the
responsibility of management to implement Board policies on internal control. 

The Board through its committees is responsible for identifying, approving
and enforcing policies on risk and control. The Group has a structure to
monitor its key activities. As part of its structure, there is a comprehensive
planning system with an annual budget approved by the Board. The results
of operating communities are reported monthly and compared to the budget.
Forecasts are prepared during the year. 

The key procedures, which the Directors have established with a view to
providing effective internal controls, are as follows:

• Regular Board meetings to consider a schedule of matters reserved for the
Board’s consideration,

• An annual review of corporate strategy, which includes a review of risks
facing the business and how these risks are monitored and managed on an
ongoing basis within the organisation,

• An established organisational structure with clearly defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority,

• Documented and enforced policies and procedures,

• Appointment of staff of the necessary calibre to fulfil their allocated
responsibilities,

• Comprehensive budgets and forecasts, approved by the Board, reviewed
and revised on a regular basis, with performance monitored against them
and explanations obtained for material variances,

• A detailed investment approval process, requiring Board approval for major
projects. Post-investment appraisals will be conducted and be reviewed by
the Board,

• An Audit Committee of the Board, comprising Non-Executive Directors,
considers significant financial control matters as appropriate. 

Relations with shareholders

Communication with shareholders is given a high priority. The Business
Review gives a detailed overview of the business and future developments.
There is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders as well as
presentations after the Group’s preliminary announcement of the year-end
results and at the half year. In addition financial and other information about
the Group is available on the Group’s website and procedures are in place to
ensure that the Board is regularly apprised of shareholders’, analysts’ and
brokers’ expressed views of the Group. 

The Board’s intention is to use the Annual General Meeting on 14 November
2008 to communicate with private and institutional investors and welcomes
their participation. The Chairman will aim to ensure that the Chairman of the
Audit and Remuneration Committees is available at the Annual General
Meeting, details of which can be found in the Notice of the Meeting. During
the year the senior independent director has not been requested to attend
any meetings by any of the shareholders but remains available to do so at
their request.

Going concern

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the
Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and for this reason, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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The Directors’ report on remuneration has been
prepared in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002.

The Remuneration Committee

Details of the Remuneration Committee are found
on page 38.

Directors’ remuneration policy

The policy of the Group for the remuneration of
Executive Directors is that it should be sufficient
to attract and retain the Directors needed to run
the Group successfully.

In addition to the advice given by HNBSC and in
order to assist in ascertaining the proper levels of
remuneration for Directors the Company Secretary
provides regular independent remuneration
research reference material to the Committee.

Centaur’s primary focus is on organic, profitable
growth. Its key strategic objectives include a
target of double digit revenue growth across the
cycle and an increase in adjusted EBITDA margins
to 25%. In light of this, the Remuneration
Committee considers it important that a significant
proportion of the Executive Directors’
remuneration packages should be linked to
growth in profits and shareholder value. 

The remuneration package consists of basic
salary, benefits, bonuses, pension and share
options. It is the intention of the Committee to
review at least annually the remuneration
packages (including, but not limited to, pension
arrangements, the determination of any targets for
any performance-related pay schemes operated
by the Company - asking the Board, when
appropriate, to seek shareholder approval for any
long term incentive arrangements, bonuses,
incentive payments and any compensation
payments and share option entitlements) for each
of the Executive Directors and Company
Secretary. The objective of such policy being to
ensure that Directors are provided with appropriate

remuneration and incentives to encourage
enhanced performance and are, in a fair and
responsible manner, rewarded for their individual
contributions to the success of the Group.

The policy with regard to bonus schemes for the
Executive Directors and Company Secretary is to
set demanding but motivational performance
targets that are normally based on one of the
Company’s key profit measures of Adjusted
earnings per share. The Adjusted earnings per
share target levels may be set with regard to a
number of factors, including year on year growth.
The maximum bonuses payable in respect of the
year to 30 June 2009 are capped at 100% and
50% of annual salary for the Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) and Group Finance Director (GFD)
respectively, with a higher growth target set for
the CEO than the GFD. 

Bonuses payable to the CEO and GFD in respect
of the year amounted to 15.6% and 8.0% of their
salaries respectively at 30 June 2008. The
Chairman’s bonus in respect of the year was
15.6% of his salary for the period 1 July 2007 to 6
December 2007 at which point he became a
Non-Executive Chairman. These were calculated
by reference to growth in Adjusted earnings per
share (EPS) for the year. Adjusted EPS of less
than 8.6p (implying growth of up to 10.3%) would
have resulted in no bonus being paid. Maximum
bonus would have been paid for achieving
Adjusted EPS of 10.9p, representing growth of
40%. Actual Adjusted EPS achieved of 9.2p
represented growth of 12%. 

Details of the Company’s long-term incentive
plans (LTIP) are outlined below. During the year,
LTIP awards granted to the CEO and GFD of
300,000 shares and 120,000 shares respectively
were valued at the time of grant at 92.8% and
62.0% of their respective salaries compared with
the 100% maximum limit set in the plan approved
by shareholders.

At these levels of bonus the Committee consider
that there is a reasonable link between the
Executive Directors’ remuneration and the
performance of the Group.

The Non-Executive Directors receive a fee for 
their services, and the reimbursement of 
incidental expenses. In addition a payment of
£1,500 per working day is made in respect of 
any period during which it is agreed by the Board
that the time commitment is significantly longer
than envisaged under the terms of the
appointment as a result of, for example, a major
corporate transaction. 

The Directors’ service agreements

Geoffrey Wilmot’s service agreement is dated 27
February 2004, amended on 23 November 2006
to reflect his appointment as Chief Executive
Officer, and Michael Lally’s agreement is dated 
2 April 2007. Notice periods are 12 months 
and Executive Directors do not have a fixed term
of office. 

Their contracts provide for termination of their
employment within 14 days of which payment
shall be made in lieu of notice. Where the
Company terminates the contracts any damages
to which the Executive Director may be entitled
shall be calculated in accordance with ordinary
common law principles including those relating to
mitigation of loss.

Graham Sherren is the Non- Executive Chairman.
His service contract has been amended to reflect
his status as a Non-Executive and continues to
provide for a notice period of twelve months.
Patrick Taylor, Colin Morrison, Tom Scruby and
Colin Satterthwaite are the Non-Executive
Directors. The Non-Executive Directors do not
have service contracts; they have a letter of
appointment with the Company. Their
appointments are for an initial three-year period
and provide for a notice period of one month. 
All retiring Directors are eligible for re-election. 
Any Non-Executive Director who has held office
for a nine-year period or more shall be subject 
to re-election at each AGM. Their letters of
appointment provide for termination of 
Non-Executive Director’s employment with one
month’s notice.

Information not subject to audit
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Pension arrangements

There is no Group executive pension scheme. 
The Group makes contributions to Executive
Directors’ individual pension schemes; 17.5% 
of salary for Geoffrey Wilmot and 9% of salary 
for Michael Lally. The Group makes contributions
of between 3% and 9% of salary for other
employees, dependent on their seniority.

Long-term incentive plans

The Group has five long-term incentive
arrangements in place. Three of these plans 
(the Long-term incentive plan, the Share option
plan and the Rollover plan) are available only to
Executive Directors and other key employees. 
The Share incentive and Sharesave plans are
open to all employees.

(i) Long-term incentive plan (“LTIP”)

The LTIP is intended to be the sole long-term
incentive arrangement for the Company’s key
management, although in exceptional
circumstances further options may be granted
under the Share option plan. The Board believes
that the LTIP will provide a better link between
reward and performance and incentivise key
management to deliver long-term shareholder
value. The maximum market value of shares over
which awards may be granted to any individuals
in any financial year will not exceed 100% of that
individual’s base salary.

Awards may be granted under the LTIP either as a
conditional allocation of ordinary shares in the
Company, as nil (or nominal) cost options with a
short exercise window or as forfeitable shares.
Awards will normally vest three years after grant,
subject to continuing employment and the
achievement of performance conditions. All
awards made under this plan take the form of
conditional grants of free shares in the Company.
Vesting is based on a condition measuring the
Company’s Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”)
against a comparator group of companies over a

fixed three year Performance Period commencing
on the first day of the financial year in which the
award is granted (save for the three year
performance period applying to the initial awards
which commenced on the date of grant). TSR is
the increase in the Net Return Index (as
calculated by a specific financial information
provider as selected by the Committee) for each
company over the Performance Period, calculated
as the increase in the average Net Return Index
during the last three month period of the
Performance Period compared to the average Net
Return Index during the three month period
ending on the day before the start of the
Performance Period.

The comparator group for the 2008 awards was
as follows:

• Euromoney plc • Pearson plc

• Future Plc • Reed Elsevier plc

• Huveaux Plc • Trinity Mirror plc

• Informa plc • UBM plc

• ITE plc • Wilmington Plc

• Johnston Press plc • Yell Group Plc

• Mecom Group Plc

Since the grant of the 2006 awards, four
companies (namely EMAP, Reuters, Metal Bulletin
and Incisive Media) that were included in the
original comparator group have been de-listed.
Two of these companies (namely EMAP and
Reuters) also formed part of the 2007 comparator
group. For consistency, and to maintain a
sufficient number of comparator companies in
these groups, Johnston Press plc, Mecom Group
Plc, Trinity Mirror plc and Yell Group Plc have
been added to these comparator groups. 

The percentage of an award that will vest is 
as follows:

Irrespective of the Company’s TSR performance,
no award will vest unless the Remuneration
Committee is satisfied that this is warranted by
the financial performance of the Company since
grant, with average growth in the Company’s
adjusted Earnings per share of RPI plus 2%
considered a minimum level of financial
performance, unless the Remuneration Committee
considers that it would be inappropriate to apply
this “underpin.”

Ranking of the Company’s 
TSR when compared Percentage of
against the TSR of the Award that
comparator companies Vests

Below median 0%
Median 30%
Upper quartile 100%
Between median and Straight-line vesting
upper quartile between 30% and 

100% based on 
ranking plus interpolation 

between rankings
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(ii) Share option plan

The Committee has previously granted share
options under the Share option plan to members
of senior management. The Board’s objective in
granting options was to increase shareholder
value through growth in earnings.

Options granted have a three year vesting period
and require that future corporate performance
targets be achieved before they can be exercised.
The same performance targets, which are based
on Earnings before taxation & amortisation
(EBTA), are common to all Executive Directors 
and senior management. In order to determine
the number of shares that option-holders will be
entitled to acquire on exercise of their options,
EBTA per ordinary share is required to grow at a
series of compound rates of growth between 19
and 44 per cent over a three-year performance
period, or 26 and 63 per cent over a four-year
performance period.

In determining the target EBTA, the base year’s
profitability of Centaur Media plc and its
subsidiaries will be the financial year ended 30
June 2004. In respect of the year of exercise, for
the purposes of settling the adjusted achieved
EBTA the principal criteria to be applied is:

(a) To exclude exceptional gains, losses or other
exceptional items.

(b) To exclude profits or losses arising from the
disposal of assets.

(c) To apply an appropriate and equitable
treatment to the recognition of profits or losses
arising from acquisitions within a maximum period
of two years from their purchase.

(d) That the EBTA will be expressed as an 
amount per ordinary share for the time being in
issue in Centaur Media plc and where the number
of shares will be the weighted average in issue
throughout the relevant year upon which the
performance is based.

(e) That the starting point for the number of
shares in issue is 147,994,118 being the total
number of ordinary shares of 10 pence each is
issue, fully paid, as at 10 March 2004 being the
date of admission to the AIM.

The option plan is made up of two parts. Part I is
approved by the Inland Revenue and takes
advantage of the legislation to encourage
employees to own shares in the Company in a tax
efficient manner. Part II of the plan has not been
approved by the Inland Revenue.

There is a limit on the grant of options under the
Share Option Schemes. Options may not be
granted if the numbers of ordinary shares over
which they are granted (together with any ordinary
shares which are subject to options granted
pursuant to the Rollover Plan) exceed 5 per cent
of the ordinary shares in issue immediately prior to
the date of grant of the options.

(iii) Rollover plan 

Centaur Media plc Executive Directors and certain
senior employees elected to rollover existing
(“old”) Centaur Communications Ltd share options
into new “rollover” share options in Centaur Media
plc. The options were exchanged for options each
at various exercise prices in Centaur Media plc.
Rollover option holders have been entitled to
exercise the former Centaur Communications Ltd
options from 10 March 2005 and are excluded
from any performance conditions.

(iv) Share incentive plan

The Share Incentive Plan is open to all employees
who have been employed by the Group for more
than 12 months. Employees may invest up to
£1,500 per annum (or 10% of their salary if less)
in shares in the Company which are held in trust
and can be withdrawn with tax paid at any time,
or tax-free after five years. Other than continuing
employment, there are no other performance
conditions attached to the plan.

The Executive Directors are eligible to participate
in the Share incentive plan 

(v) Sharesave plan

During the year, the Company introduced a
Sharesave plan (the 'SAYE Scheme'). The SAYE
Scheme is an HMRC approved all-employee plan
and is open to all employees who have been
employed by the Group for more than 12 months.
Employees may invest up to £3,000 per annum
for a period of either 3 or 5 years, after which they
may exercise SAYE options within 6 months of the
anniversary date of the contract commencement
date. The Option price of the 2008 grants made
was 64.7 pence, a discount of 20% on the share
price determined at the pricing date. Other than
continuing employment, there are no other
performance conditions attached to the plan.
The Executive Directors are eligible to participate
in the Sharesave Plan. 
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Performance graphs

The graphs below show the performance 
of Centaur Media plc share price and total
shareholder return (TSR) compared to the
performance of the FTSE 350 Media and
Entertainment index over the same period. 
This index is considered to be most 
representative of the performance of the 
shares of generally comparable companies.
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Information subject to audit

Earliest Exercise Number Number
Date of exercise Expiry price at 30 June Granted Exercised Lapsed at 30 June

grant date date (pence) 2007 in year in year in year 2008

GTD Wilmot 9.03.04 9.03.07 9.03.14 100.0 587,333 - - - 587,333
9.03.04 9.03.05 9.03.14 41.67 172,777 - - - 172,777

760,110 760,110

M J Lally 9.03.04 9.03.07 9.03.14 100.0 217,677 - - - 217,677
9.03.04 9.03.05 9.03.14 57.87 26,743 - - - 26,743

244,420 244,420

Directors’ interests

The Directors holding office during the year to 30 June 2008 are shown on
page 90 and their beneficial interests in the Company’s share capital are
shown on page 34. None of the Directors had any beneficial interest in the
shares of other Group companies.

The following Directors have been granted rollover and matching options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company under rollover, approved and
unapproved share option schemes:

The market price at 30 June 2008 was 65.8 pence (FY2007:133.0 pence)
and the range during the year was 65.0 pence to 142.0 pence (FY2007:
104.5 pence to 155.0 pence). The average market price during the year was
98.2 pence (FY2007:134.9 pence).

Number Number
Date of Vesting at 30 June Granted Vested Lapsed at 30 June
award date 2007 in year in year in year 2008

GTD Wilmot 13.06.06 13.06.09 65,000 - - - 65,000
26.04.07 26.04.10 85,000 - - 85,000
19.03.08 19.03.11 - 300,000 - - 300,000

150,000 300,000 - - 450,000

M J Lally 13.06.06 13.06.09 20,000 - - - 20,000
26.04.07 26.04.10 30,000 - - - 30,000
19.03.08 19.03.11 - 120,000 - - 120,000

50,000 120,000 - - 170,000

Long-term incentive plan

The following Directors have been awarded conditional free shares under the
long-term incentive plan:

For the 2008 awards, the market price of the shares as at the date of grant
was 77.3 pence (FY2007 awards: 144.0 pence).
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Earliest Exercise Number Number
Date of exercise Expiry price at 30 June Granted Exercised Lapsed at 30 June

grant date date (pence) 2007 in year in year in year 2008

GV Sherren 24.04.08 01.06.11 01.12.11 64.7 - 13,910 - - 13,910

M J Lally 24.04.08 01.06.13 01.12.13 64.7 - 23,183 - - 23,183

Sharesave plan

The following Directors have been granted options over ordinary shares of
10p each in the Company under the terms of the Centaur UK Sharesave
Plan 2008:

The market price of the shares at the date of grant was 72.0 pence.

Directors’ emoluments

The table below provides details of Directors’ remuneration from Centaur
Media plc for the year to 30 June 2008.

Other benefits for Executive Directors during this year include the provision 
of a car allowance, life assurance, permanent health insurance and 
medical insurance. 

Actual Actual
Year ended Year ended

Salaries Other 30 June 30 June
and fees Bonus Pension benefits 2008 2007

£ £ £ £ £ £
Executive
GTD Wilmot 250,000 39,063 43,750 23,074 355,887 423,371
M J Lally 149,500 12,458 13,455 8,876 184,289 156,206

Non Executive
GV Sherren* 210,153 21,668 - 48,460 280,281 558,540
JPE Taylor 45,000 - - - 45,000 45,000
BTR Scruby 40,000 - - - 40,000 40,000
C Morrison 40,000 - - - 40,000 40,000
C Satterthwaite** 40,000 - - - 40,000 -
A Irby*** - - - - - 15,000

774,653 73,189 57,205 80,410 985,457 1,278,117

*Became non-executive from 6 December 2007
** Appointed 1 July 2007
***Resigned 29 November 2007; fees waived from 1 January 2007
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We have audited the Group and parent Company
financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) 
of Centaur Media plc for the year ended 30 June
2008 which comprise the Consolidated Income
Statement, the Consolidated and Company
Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Company
Cash Flow Statements, the Consolidated and
parent Company Statements of Recognised
Income and Expense and the related notes.
These financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein. 
We have also audited the information in the
Directors’ Report on Remuneration that is
described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of
directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the
Annual Report, the Directors’ Report on
Remuneration and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Report
on Remuneration to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has
been prepared for and only for the Company’s
members as a body in accordance with Section
235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or
to any other person to whom this report is shown
or into whose hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the
financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be
audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, 
as regards to the Group financial statements
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to
you whether in our opinion the information given
in the Report of the Directors is consistent with
the financial statements. The information given in
the Report of the Directors includes that specific

information presented in the Business Review 
and Financial Review that is cross referred from
the Business Review section of the Report of 
the Directors.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, 
the Company has not kept proper accounting
records, if we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit, 
or if information specified by law regarding
Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is
not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance
Statement reflects the company’s compliance 
with the nine provisions of the Combined Code
2006 specified for our review by the Listing Rules
of the Financial Services Authority, and we report
if it does not. We are not required to consider
whether the board’s statements on internal 
control cover all risks and controls, or form an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
corporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual
Report and consider whether it is consistent with
the audited financial statements. The other
information comprises only the Chairman’s
Statement, the Business Review, the Corporate
Social Responsibility Statement, the Financial
Review, the Report of the Directors and the
unaudited part of the Directors’ Report on
Remuneration. We consider the implications for
our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not
extend to any other information.
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Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be audited.
It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the Directors
in the preparation of the financial statements, and
of whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to
obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Report on Remuneration to
be audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or
error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Report on Remuneration to
be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and
fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union, of the state of the Group’s
affairs as at 30 June 2008 and of its profit and
cash flows for the year then ended;

• the parent Company financial statements give a
true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 1985, of the state of the parent Company’s
affairs as at 30 June 2008 and cash flows for the
year then ended;

• the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and

• the information given in the Report of the
Directors is consistent with the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and 
Registered Auditors
London

17 September 2008

Notes:
(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Centaur Media plc website is the responsibility of the Directors; 
the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, 
the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements
since they were initially presented on the website.

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Continuing operations 2008 2007

Note £m £m

Revenue 1 90.4 90.3

Cost of sales (44.8) (45.7)

Gross profit 45.6 44.6

Distribution costs (4.5) (4.6)
Administrative expenses (26.8) (24.1)

Adjusted EBITDA 1 21.5 19.7

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (0.8) (0.8)
Amortisation of software (1.5) (1.9)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.1) (0.7)
Share based payments 22 (0.2) (0.4)
Exceptional administrative cost 2 (3.6) -

Operating profit from continuing operations 14.3 15.9

Interest receivable 3 0.2 0.2
Share of post-tax profit from associate - 0.1
Profit on sale of associate - 0.7

Profit from continuing operations before taxation 14.5 16.9

Taxation 6 (5.0) (4.6)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 9.5 12.3

Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 15 0.2 -

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 9.7 12.3

Earnings per share from total operations 7
Basic 6.7p 8.2p
Fully diluted 6.7p 8.1p

Earnings per share from continuing operations 7
Basic 6.6p 8.2p
Fully diluted 6.6p 8.1p

The accompanying accounting
policies and notes form an integral
part of these financial statements.
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2008 2007

£m £m

Profit for the financial year 9.7 12.3

Deferred tax on items taken directly to equity (0.1) (0.1)

Total recognised income for the year 9.6 12.2

There are no gains or losses 
for the Company other than 
those recognised in the income
statement.
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2008 2007

Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 8 140.3 140.1
Other intangible assets 9 15.9 16.5
Property, plant and equipment 10 2.0 2.1
Deferred tax assets 20 0.7 1.5

158.9 160.2

Current assets
Inventories 12 1.2 1.1
Trade and other receivables 13 16.5 18.4
Cash and cash equivalents 14 7.8 10.1

25.5 29.6

Assets held in disposal group for sale 15 - 0.4

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings 16 0.1 1.1
Trade and other payables 17 11.0 11.4
Deferred income 18 8.7 9.6
Current tax liabilities 19 2.0 2.3

21.8 24.4

Liabilities held in disposal group for sale 15 - 0.2

Net current assets 3.7 5.4

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 20 1.1 1.1

1.1 1.1

Net assets 161.5 164.5

Capital and reserves
Share capital 21 15.0 15.0
Treasury shares 23 (8.9) (1.0)
Share premium 23 0.7 0.3
Other reserves 23 3.1 2.8
Retained earnings 23 151.6 147.4

Total shareholders’ equity 161.5 164.5

The financial statements were
approved by the Board of Directors
on 17 September 2008 and were
signed on its behalf by:

MJ Lally
Group Finance Director
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2008 2007

Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 11 145.8 145.6

145.8 145.6

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 13 43.0 6.0
Cash and cash equivalents 14 0.2 1.9

43.2 7.9

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings 16 0.1 1.1
Trade and other payables 17 33.1 17.3

33.2 18.4

Net current assets / (liabilities) 10.0 (10.5)

Net assets 155.8 135.1

Capital and reserves
Share capital 21 15.0 15.0
Treasury shares 23 (7.9) -
Share premium 23 0.7 0.3
Other reserves 23 3.1 2.8
Retained earnings 23 144.9 117.0

Total shareholders’ equity 155.8 135.1

The financial statements were
approved by the Board of Directors
on 17 September 2008 and were
signed on its behalf by:

MJ Lally
Group Finance Director
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2008 2007

Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 25 19.0 18.2
Tax paid (4.6) (4.9)

Cash flows from operating activities 14.4 13.3

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 0.1 0.2
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) (0.1) 0.1
Proceeds from the disposal of businesses 0.2 0.8
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiary 15 0.4 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (0.7) (0.5)
Purchase of software (2.4) (2.1)
Purchase of other intangible assets - (3.0)

Cash flows from investing activities (2.5) (4.5)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 0.1 0.1
Treasury shares purchased (7.9) (1.0)
Repayment of loan notes (1.0) (0.5)
Dividends paid (5.4) (5.1)

Cash flows from financing activities (14.2) (6.5)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (2.3) 2.3

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 2007 10.1 7.8

Cash and cash equivalents 30 June 2008 7.8 10.1
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2008 2007

Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 25 12.0 5.8

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 2.6 0.3
Dividends received - -

Cash flows from investing activities 2.6 0.3

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (2.1) (1.1)
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 0.1 0.1
Treasury shares purchased (7.9) -
Repayment of loan notes (1.0) (0.5)
Dividends paid (5.4) (5.1)

Cash flows from financing activities (16.3) (6.6)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1.7) (0.5)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 2007 1.9 2.4

Cash and cash equivalents 30 June 2008 0.2 1.9
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The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated and Company financial
statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and
International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) applicable at 30 June 2008
and with those parts of the Companies Act, 1985
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
The financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis. 

These financial statements are presented in
pounds sterling (GBP) as that is the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the
Group operates. 

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period.
Although these estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of the amount,
events or actions, the actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates.

The Company has taken advantage of the
exemption available under section 230 of the
Companies Act 1985 and has not presented its
own income statement in these financial statements. 

The following new standards, amendments to
standards or interpretations are mandatory for the
first time for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

• IFRIC 7, ‘Applying the restatement approach
under IAS 29’, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 March 2006. This
interpretation is not relevant for the Group.

• IFRIC 8, ‘Scope of IFRS 2’, effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006. 
This interpretation has not had any impact on 
the recognition of share-based payments in 
the Group.

• IFRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share
transactions’, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 March 2007. This
interpretation has not had any impact on the
recognition of share-based payments in the Group.

• IFRIC 9, ‘Reassessment of embedded
derivatives’, effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 June 2006. This interpretation has
not had a significant impact on the reassessment
of embedded derivatives as the Group already
assessed if embedded derivatives should be
separated using principles consistent with IFRIC 9.

• IFRIC 10, ‘Interims and impairment’, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 November
2006. This interpretation has not had any impact
on the timing or recognition of impairment losses
as the Group already accounted for such amounts
using principles consistent with IFRIC 10.

• IFRS 7, 'Financial instruments: Disclosures', 
and the complementary amendment to IAS 1,
‘Presentation of financial statements – Capital
disclosures', effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007, introduces
new disclosures relating to financial instruments
and does not have any impact on the
classification and valuation of the Group or
Company's financial instruments, or the
disclosures relating to taxation and trade and
other payables. The full IFRS 7 disclosures,
including the sensitivity analysis to market risk 
and capital disclosures required by the
amendment of IAS 1 are given in note 26.

The following new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations have been issued,
but are not effective for the financial year ending
30 June 2008 and have not been early adopted:

• IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements’,
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2008. The Directors do not expect this
interpretation to be relevant for the Group.

• IFRIC 13, 'Customer loyalty programmes'
(effective from 1 July 2008). The Directors do 
not expect this interpretation to be relevant for 
the Group.

• IFRIC 14, 'IAS 19 – The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and
their interaction' (effective from 1 January 2008).
The Directors do not expect this interpretation to
be relevant for the Group.

• IFRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the construction of
real estate’ effective from 1 January 2009. The
Directors do not expect this interpretation to be
relevant for the Group.

• IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation’, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The
Directors do not expect this interpretation to be
relevant for the Group.

• IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009, subject to EU endorsement. The Directors
do not currently foresee any changes to the
Group’s business segments.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these
standards and interpretations in future periods will
have no material impact on the financial
statements of the Group.

Additional presentation within the
consolidated income statement

The Group has presented separately on the face
of the consolidated income statement on page 48
an additional profit measure of adjusted EBITDA.
Adjusted EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, amortisation and excluding
exceptional and other significant non-cash items.
This presentation has been provided as the
Directors believe that this measure reflects more
clearly the ongoing operations of the Group. In
2008 and 2007, share based payment costs have
been treated as a significant non-cash item. 

Exceptional items

The Group considers items of income and
expenses as exceptional items and discloses
them separately; where the nature of the item, or
its size, is likely to be material so as to assist the
user of the financial statements to better understand
the results of the operations of the Group.
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Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of Centaur Media plc 
and all its subsidiaries to 30 June together with
the attributable share of results and reserves 
of associated undertakings, adjusted where
appropriate to conform with Centaur's 
accounting policies.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the
Company. Control exists when the Company has
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to benefit from its activities. 

Where the Group has established a joint venture
through an interest in a company, partnership or
other entity (a jointly controlled entity), the Group
recognises its interest in the entity using the
proportionate consolidation method, whereby the
Group’s share of each of the assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of the jointly controlled
entity is combined line by line with similar items in
the Group’s financial statements. 

Intragroup balances and transactions and any
unrealised gains or losses arising from these
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts recoverable by the Group for
the sales of advertising space, subscriptions and
individual publications and revenue from
exhibitions and conferences provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts and
value added tax.

Sales of advertising space are recognised in the
period in which publication occurs. Sales of
publications are recognised in the period in which
the sale is made. Revenue received in advance 
for exhibitions and conferences is deferred and
recognised in the period in which the event 
takes place.

Revenue from subscriptions to publications and
online services is deferred and recognised in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
subscription period.

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the
transaction date. Assets and liabilities are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the year
end date. Any gains or losses arising on
exchange are reflected in the income statement.

Investments

In the Company’s financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment in value. 

In the Group financial statements, investments in
associates are incorporated into the financial
statements using the equity method of accounting
whereby investments are carried on the balance
sheet at cost adjusted by post-acquisition
changes of the net assets of the associates, less
any impairment of value in the individual investment.

Goodwill

Where the cost of a business acquisition 
exceeds the fair values attributable to the
separable net assets acquired, the resulting
goodwill is capitalised. Goodwill has an indefinite
useful life and is tested for impairment annually 
or where indicators imply that the carrying value 
is not recoverable.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to cash generating units and is then
tested for impairment at the level of the reportable
segments. Cash generating units are considered
to be individual magazine or online titles where
each magazine or online title generates profits and
cash flows that are largely independent from other
units. Any impairment is recognised in the income
statement and is not subsequently reversed.

On the disposal of a cash generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit and loss on disposal.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation. Intangible
assets acquired as part of business combinations
are carried at fair value less accumulated
amortisation. Computer software that is not
integral to the operation of the related hardware is
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost or
fair value of assets on a straight line basis over
the expected useful economic lives to the Group
over the following periods:

Computer software - 3 - 5 years
Brands and publishing rights - 20 years 
Customer relationships - 10 years
Website development costs - 3 years
Acquired content - 5 years
Non compete Over the term of 
arrangements the arrangement

The Group’s internally generated brands represent
commercially valuable intangibles but are not
eligible for recognition as assets under IAS 38
Intangible Assets.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost of property, plant and equipment
is the purchase cost together with any incidental
direct costs of acquisition. Depreciation is
calculated to write off the cost, less estimated
residual value, of assets, on a straight line basis
over the expected useful economic lives to the
Group over the following periods:

Leasehold property - 20 years or the length 
of the lease if shorter

Fixtures and fittings - 10 years
Computer equipment - 3 - 5 years
Motor vehicles - 4 years

Residual values, where applicable, are reviewed
annually against prevailing market rates at the
balance sheet date for equivalent aged assets
and depreciation rates adjusted accordingly 
on a prospective basis. A review of the 
estimated useful economic life of each asset is
carried out annually to ensure depreciation rates
are adequate.
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Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or
amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised to the extent that the carrying value
exceeds the higher of the asset's fair value less
cost to sell and its value in use. An asset’s value
in use is calculated by discounting an estimate of
future cash flows by the Group's pre tax weighted
average cost of capital. 

Taxation including deferred tax 

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the income statement because it
excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further
includes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group and Company's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is the tax accounted for in respect 
of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements, and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is
charged or credited to the income statement,
except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first
in, first out method. For raw materials, cost is the
purchase price. Work in progress comprises costs
incurred relating to publications, exhibitions and
conferences prior to the publication date or the
date of the event. For goods for resale, cost is the
purchase price, or, in the case of publications, the
direct cost of production.

Net realisable value is based on estimated future
selling price less all the further costs to
completion and all relevant marketing, selling and
distribution costs.

Inventories are reviewed regularly and full
provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or
defective stock. 

Leases

All leases held by the Group are considered to be
operating leases. Rental charges on operating
leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight line basis over the life of the lease.

Employee benefit cost

The Group and Company contribute to a defined
contribution pension scheme for the benefit of
employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the group in an
independently administered fund. Contributions to
defined contribution schemes are charged to the
income statement at the time that the related
service is provided.

The expected cost of compensated holidays is
recognised at the time that the related service 
is provided.

Share-based payments

The Company has equity settled share based
payment compensation plans. The fair value of
equity settled share based payments is measured
at the date of the grant using a stochastic option
pricing model. The fair value of the estimate of the
number of options or shares that are expected to
be exercised is expensed on a straight line basis
over the vesting period. 

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, when it is more likely than
not that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation and where a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Segmental reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and
operations engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is a group of
assets and operations engaged in providing
products or services within a particular economic
environment and that is subject to risks and
returns that are different from those components
operating in other economic environments.

Substantially all of the Group's net assets are
located and all turnover and profit are generated
in the United Kingdom and therefore the primary
reporting format is by business segment based 
on the Group's management and internal
reporting structure.

Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The
excess of consideration received in respect of
shares issued over the nominal value of those
shares is held in the share premium account.

The Company also holds a non-distributable
reserve representing the fair value of share
options issued.

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the
period in which they are paid or approved by the
shareholders in general meeting.
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Key accounting assumptions,
estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements under
IFRS requires the use of certain key accounting
assumptions and requires management to
exercise its judgement and to make estimates.
The areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements
are as follows:

(i) Impairments

In assessing whether goodwill and other intangible
fixed assets are impaired, the Group uses a
discounted cash flow model which includes
forecast cash flow information and estimates of
future growth. If the results of operations in future
periods are lower than included in the cash flow
model, impairments may be triggered. 

(ii) Deferred consideration

Provisions or receivables for deferred
consideration are made on the basis of the
Directors’ best estimates of the future relevant
measures of profits of the subsidiaries and
businesses acquired or sold. If the profits of the
subsidiaries and businesses acquired differ from
the estimates, the actual consideration will differ
from the estimates used.

Financial instruments

The Group has applied IFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, and IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, as
outlined below. 

• Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

All of the Group’s financial assets have been
classified as loans and receivables. Loans and
receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in
current assets, except for maturities greater than
12 months after the balance sheet date. These
are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s
loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other
receivables’ and cash and cash equivalents in the
balance sheet. 

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

• Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment.

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default
or delinquency in payments (more than 90 days
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced through the use of an

allowance account, and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the income statement within
‘administrative expenses’. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for trade receivables.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against ‘administrative
expenses in the income statement.

• Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand
and deposits repayable on demand or maturing
within three months of the balance sheet date,
less any overdrafts repayable on demand.

• Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

• Loan notes

Loan notes are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

• Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge
interest rate and foreign currency exposure where
these circumstances arise. Discounts and
premiums are charged or credited to the income
statement over the life of the asset or liability to
which they relate. Derivative financial assets and
liabilities are stated at fair value. Changes to fair
value are recognised directly in equity, to the
extent that they are effective, with the ineffective
portion being recognised in the income statement
in the financial period to which it relates. The
Group does not hold any derivative financial
instruments either for trading purposes or
designated as hedges. 
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1 Segmental reporting

Primary reporting format – business segments

The Group is currently organised into five main business segments. 

Corporate costs are allocated to business segments on an appropriate 
basis depending on the nature of the cost. Costs that cannot be allocated 
to a business segment are shown as “unallocated”. 

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets including goodwill, inventories, trade receivables and 
cash and cash equivalents. 

Segment liabilities comprise trade payables, accruals and deferred income. 

Corporate assets and liabilities comprise current and deferred tax balances,
cash and cash equivalents and borrowings. 

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and goodwill and includes additions resulting from
acquisitions through business combinations. 

Secondary reporting format – geographical segments

Substantially all of the Group's net assets are located and all revenue and
profit are generated in the United Kingdom. Furthermore substantially all of
the Group’s customers are located in the United Kingdom. The Directors
consider that the Group operates in a single geographical segment, being
the United Kingdom, and therefore secondary format segmental reporting is
not required.
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Year ended 
30 June 2008 Legal Marketing Construction General

and and and Perfect Business
Continuing operations Financial Creative Engineering Information Services Unallocated Group

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 28.7 23.6 20.5 5.8 11.8 - 90.4

Adjusted EBITDA 9.2 4.1 4.7 2.1 1.4 - 21.5
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) (0.1) (0.1) - (0.8)
Amortisation of software (0.2) (0.3) (0.2) (0.6) (0.2) - (1.5)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (0.1) (0.1) (0.4) - (0.5) - (1.1)
Share based payments - - - - - (0.2) (0.2)
Exceptional administrative cost - (1.1) (0.2) (1.7) (0.1) (0.5) (3.6)

Segment result 8.7 2.4 3.7 (0.3) 0.5 (0.7) 14.3

Interest receivable - - - - - 0.2 0.2
Share of post tax profit of associates - - - - - - -
Profit on sale of associate - - - - - - -

Profit before tax 8.7 2.4 3.7 (0.3) 0.5 (0.5) 14.5
Taxation - - - - - (5.0) (5.0)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 8.7 2.4 3.7 (0.3) 0.5 (5.5) 9.5

Discontinued operations
Revenue - - - - - - -
Segment result - - - - - - -
Profit on disposal of operation - - - - 0.2 - 0.2

Profit for the year from discontinued operations - - - - 0.2 - 0.2

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 8.7 2.4 3.7 (0.3) 0.7 (5.5) 9.7

Segment assets 60.0 47.1 39.6 11.1 18.1 - 175.9
Corporate assets - - - - - 8.5 8.5

Consolidated total assets 60.0 47.1 39.6 11.1 18.1 8.5 184.4

Segment liabilities 3.7 5.4 4.9 2.5 3.1 - 19.6
Corporate liabilities - - - - - 3.3 3.3

Consolidated total liabilities 3.7 5.4 4.9 2.5 3.1 3.3 22.9

Other items:
Capital expenditure 0.7 0.9 0.9 1.0 0.4 - 3.9
Impairment of trade receivables - 0.2 0.2 - 0.1 - 0.5

1 Segmental reporting (continued)
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Year ended 
30 June 2007 Legal Marketing Construction General

and and and Perfect Business
Continuing operations Financial Creative Engineering Information Services Unallocated Group

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 30.3 23.6 19.4 6.0 11.0 - 90.3

Adjusted EBITDA 9.0 3.6 4.1 1.5 1.5 - 19.7
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (0.2) (0.2) (0.1) (0.1) (0.2) - (0.8)
Amortisation of software (0.3) (0.3) (0.2) (1.0) (0.1) (1.9)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (0.1) - (0.4) - (0.2) - (0.7)
Share based payments - - - - - (0.4) (0.4)
Exceptional administrative cost - - - - - - -

Segment result 8.4 3.1 3.4 0.4 1.0 (0.4) 15.9

Interest receivable - - - - - 0.2 0.2
Share of post tax profit of associates 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
Profit on sale of associate 0.7 - - - - - 0.7

Profit before tax 9.2 3.1 3.4 0.4 1.0 (0.2) 16.9
Taxation - - - - - (4.6) (4.6)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 9.2 3.1 3.4 0.4 1.0 (4.8) 12.3

Discontinued operations
Revenue - - - - 1.1 - 1.1
Segment result - - - - (0.1) - (0.1)
Profit on disposal of operation - - - - 0.1 - 0.1

Profit for the year from discontinued operations - - - - - - -

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 9.2 3.1 3.4 0.4 1.0 (4.8) 12.3

Segment assets 60.4 47.4 39.7 12.0 18.7 - 178.2
Corporate assets - - - - - 12.0 12.0

Consolidated total assets 60.4 47.4 39.7 12.0 18.7 12.0 190.2

Segment liabilities 4.2 5.3 5.5 2.9 2.5 - 20.4
Corporate liabilities - - - - - 5.3 5.3

Consolidated total liabilities 4.2 5.3 5.5 2.9 2.5 5.3 25.7

Other items:
Capital expenditure 0.3 1.0 0.2 1.0 4.7 - 7.2
Impairment of trade receivables 0.1 0.2 0.2 (0.1) 0.2 - 0.6

1 Segmental reporting (continued)



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Centaur Media plc – Annual Report
Year ended 30 June 2008 61

2 Exceptional administrative cost

2008 2007

£m £m

Closure of Perfect Analysis -
Accelerated amortisation of assets 1.2 -
Redundancies 0.2 -
Post closure losses 0.3 -

1.7 -

Reorganisation of publishing operations
Redundancies 1.3 -
Share based payment 0.1 -

1.4 -

Onerous lease provision 0.5 -

Total 3.6 -

During the period, the Directors decided to discontinue
Perfect Analysis, the equity research service developed
by Synergy Software Solutions Limited, a subsidiary
company. The costs of closure totalling £1.7m have
been reported as an exceptional item and include £1.2m
of accelerated amortisation of computer software as
reported in note 9. 

Also during the year, following a strategic review of its
publishing operations, certain organisational changes
have been implemented in order to facilitate a more

consistent multi-media strategy across all sectors in the
Group and to drive growth in new product development.
This resulted in redundancies within publishing
operations with a total cost to the Group of £1.4m.

In addition the exceptional costs include £0.5m reflecting
the onerous element of an additional short term property
rental commitment at 30 June 2008 that has been
entered into to facilitate the changes to the Group’s main
London premises that have arisen following the
restructuring of the business during the year.

3 Interest receivable

2008 2007

£m £m

Interest receivable on bank deposits 0.2 0.2
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4 Profit before taxation

2008 2007

£m £m

Employee benefit expense (note 5) 33.8 32.4
Exceptional administrative cost (note 2) 3.6 -
Inventories
- Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 12.7 11.7
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment (note 10) 0.8 0.8
Amortisation of intangibles (included in administrative expenses) (note 9) 2.6 2.6
Operating lease rentals 
- Minimum lease payments 2.9 2.9
- Subleases (0.4) (0.6)
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.2
Trade receivables impairment 0.5 0.6

Services provided by the Group’s auditor

Audit fees: £’000 £’000

Fees payable to Company's auditor for the audit of 35 35
parent Company and consolidated financial statements

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other
services:
- The audit of Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 95 95
- Other services supplies pursuant to legislations 29 28
- Tax services 23 30
- All other services 1 1

183 189

Profit before taxation is stated after charging:
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5 Directors and employees 

Group Group Company Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Wages and salaries 29.4 28.2 1.1 1.4
Social security costs 3.3 3.1 0.1 0.2
Other pension costs 0.8 0.7 0.1 0.1
Equity settled share-based payments (note 22) 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.1

33.8 32.4 1.4 1.8

Group Group Company Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

No. No. No. No.

Editorial 186 179 - -
Production 53 60 - -
Sales 178 181 - -
Product management and support 202 202 - -
Central services 167 137 8 8

786 759 8 8

The average monthly number of persons employed during the year, including Executive Directors, was:

All employees are based in the UK. 

Included in total employee numbers
for 2007 were 11 employees relating
to discontinued operations.

Key management compensation

2008 2007

£m £m

Salaries and short term employee benefits 2.8 3.6
Other pension costs 0.2 0.2
Share based payments 0.2 0.3
Termination benefits (including share based payments of £0.1m) 0.8 -

4.0 4.1

The key management figures include
Directors, members of the executive
management board and all other
employees deemed to have authority
and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling activities of
Centaur and its subsidiaries.

The termination benefits relate to the
reorganisation as described in note 2. 

Details of Directors’ remuneration is
included in the Directors’ Report on
Remuneration on page 45.
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6 Taxation

2008 2007

(a) Analysis of charge in year £m £m

Current tax
- Current year 4.3 4.6

4.3 4.6

Deferred tax (note 20)
- Current year 0.7 (0.1)
- Adjustment in respect of prior year - 0.1

0.7 -

Taxation 5.0 4.6

(b) Tax on items charged to equity

Deferred tax charge on share based payments 0.1 0.1

(c) Factors affecting tax charge for the year 2008 2007
The tax assessed for the year is higher (2007: lower) than the standard rate 
of corporation tax in the UK (29.5%). The differences are explained below: £m £m

Profit before tax 14.5 16.9

Profit before tax multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax 4.3 5.1
in the UK of 29.5% (2007: 30%)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.2 0.2
Non-taxable gain on sale of associate - (0.2)
Current tax deduction on share options exercised - (0.2)
Deferred tax charge/(credit) on share based payments taken to income statement 0.5 (0.5)
Capital losses utilised (0.1) -
Losses not recognised 0.1 0.1
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous years - 0.1

Total taxation 5.0 4.6

The standard tax rate for the year
has reduced from 30% to 29.5% as
a result of the reduction in the UK
corporation tax rate from 30% to
28% from 1 April 2008 onwards. 

There was no tax arising on
discontinued operations during the
current or previous year.
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7 Earnings per share

2008 2007

Weighted average Per share Weighted average Per share
Earnings no. of shares amount Earnings no. of shares amount

£m millions Pence £m millions Pence

Total operations

Basic EPS 9.7 144.3 6.7 12.3 149.1 8.2

Effect of dilutive securities
Options - 0.3 - - 1.8 -
Contingently issuable shares - - - - 0.4 -

Diluted basic EPS 9.7 144.6 6.7 12.3 151.3 8.1

Continuing operations

Basic EPS 9.5 144.3 6.6 12.3 149.1 8.2

Effect of dilutive securities
Options - 0.3 - - 1.8 -
Contingently issuable shares - - - - 0.4 -

Diluted basic EPS 9.5 144.6 6.6 12.3 151.3 8.1

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the earnings
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of
shares in issue during the year. Shares held in the employee benefit trust 
and shares held in treasury have been excluded in arriving at the weighted
average number of shares.

For diluted earnings per share the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Company has two classes of dilutive potential ordinary
shares: share options (including those granted under the Sharesave plan)
granted to Directors and employees where the exercise price is less than the
average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year; and
the contingently issuable shares under the Company’s long-term incentive
plan to the extent that the conditions are met at the reporting date. 
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7 Earnings per share (continued)

An alternative measure of Adjusted earnings per share has been provided as the Directors
believe that this measure is more reflective of the ongoing trading of the Group.

2008 2007

Weighted average Per share Weighted average Per share
Earnings no. of shares amount Earnings no. of shares amount

£m millions Pence £m millions Pence

Adjusted EPS

Earnings attributable to ordinary 9.5 144.3 6.6 12.3 149.1 8.2
shareholders from continuing operations 

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (note 9) 1.1 - 0.7 0.7 - 0.5
Profit on disposal of associated undertakings - - - (0.7) - (0.5)
Exceptional administrative cost (note 2) 3.6 - 2.5 - - -
Tax effect of above adjustments (0.9) - (0.6) (0.1)

Adjusted EPS 13.3 144.3 9.2 12.2 149.1 8.2

Effect of dilutive securities

Options - 0.3 - - 1.8 -
Contingently issuable shares - - - - 0.4 -

Diluted adjusted EPS 13.3 144.6 9.2 12.2 151.3 8.1
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8 Goodwill

Total

Cost £m

At 1 July 2007 140.1
Additions 0.1
Fair value adjustment 0.1

At 30 June 2008 140.3

Net book amount 
At 30 June 2008 140.3

At 30 June 2007 140.1

Additions

The additions in the year relate to the purchase of shares in Perfect
Information Limited, a subsidiary, from minority shareholders. 

Fair value adjustment

The fair value adjustment relates to the finalisation of the acquisition balance
sheet of The Awareness Group Limited purchased in March 2007.

Goodwill by segment

Each individual magazine and online title is deemed to be a Cash Generating
Unit (CGU) as each title generates profits and cash flows that are largely
independent from other communities. Goodwill is attributed to individual
CGUs but is grouped together at segmental level for the purposes of the
annual impairment review of goodwill, being the lowest level that
management monitors goodwill.

Legal Marketing Construction General
and and and Perfect Business

Financial Creative Engineering Information Services Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 30 June 2007 53.2 40.5 30.1 8.6 7.7 140.1
Additions - - - 0.1 - 0.1
Fair value adjustment - - - - 0.1 0.1

At 30 June 2008 53.2 40.5 30.1 8.7 7.8 140.3

Impairment testing of goodwill

During the year goodwill was tested for impairment in accordance with IAS
36. In assessing whether a write-down of goodwill is required in the carrying
value of the related asset, the carrying value of the CGU or group of CGUs is
compared with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount for each
CGU and collectively for groups of CGUs that make up the segments of the
Group’s business has been measured based on value in use. 

The Group estimates the value in use of its CGUs using a discounted cash
flow model (DCF) which adjusts the cash flows for risks associated with the
assets and discounts these using a pre-tax rate of 14.4% (2007: 14.4%).
The discount rate used is consistent with the Group’s weighted average cost
of capital and is used across all segments.

No impairment was noted following the annual impairment review.

The key assumptions used in calculating value in-use are sales growth,
EBITDA, working capital movements and capital expenditure. The Group has
used formally approved budgets for the first year of the value in use
calculation, and estimated revenue growth rates of between 2% and 9% and
EBITDA margins of between 10% and 35% for years 2 to 5. Terminal values
assuming growth rates of 3% have been calculated from estimated year 5
cash flows.

The assumptions used in the calculations of value-in-use for each segment
have been derived from past experience. Management believe that no
reasonably possible change in assumptions would cause the carrying
amount of goodwill to exceed its recoverable amount. 

The following table shows the allocation of goodwill to segments at 30 June 2008:

The majority of the Group’s goodwill arose from the acquisition of the
Centaur Communications Group in 2004.
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9 Other intangible assets

Brands and Websites
Computer publishing Customer and Non-

2008 Software rights relationships content compete Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 July 2007 10.8 9.2 3.7 0.4 0.5 24.6
Additions - separately 2.5 - - - - 2.5
Additions - internally generated 0.7 - - - - 0.7

At 30 June 2008 14.0 9.2 3.7 0.4 0.5 27.8

Amortisation
At 1 July 2006 7.1 0.5 0.4 0.1 - 8.1
Charge for the year 1.5 0.5 0.4 0.1 0.1 2.6
Write down of assets 1.2 - - - - 1.2

At 30 June 2008 9.8 1.0 0.8 0.2 0.1 11.9

Net book amount 
At 30 June 2008 4.2 8.2 2.9 0.2 0.4 15.9
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Brands and Websites
Computer publishing Customer and Non-

2007 Software rights relationships content compete Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 July 2006 10.3 6.4 3.0 0.4 - 20.1
Fair value adjustment - (0.2) - - - (0.2)
Acquisitions - through business combinations - 1.1 0.7 - - 1.8
Acquisitions - separately 1.0 1.9 - - 0.5 3.4
Additions - internally generated 1.0 - - - - 1.0
Disposals (1.5) - - - - (1.5)

At 30 June 2007 10.8 9.2 3.7 0.4 0.5 24.6

Amortisation
At 1 July 2006 6.7 0.3 - - - 7.0
Charge for the year 1.9 0.2 0.4 0.1 - 2.6
Disposals (1.5) - - - - (1.5)

At 30 June 2007 7.1 0.5 0.4 0.1 - 8.1

Net book amount 
At 30 June 2007 3.7 8.7 3.3 0.3 0.5 16.5

9 Other intangible assets (continued)

Amortisation charges in 2007 and 2008 have been charged to administrative
expenses. During the period, the Directors decided to discontinue Perfect
Analysis, the equity research service developed by Synergy Software
Solutions Limited, a subsidiary company. As a result the associated
computer software net book value of £1.2m has been written down. 

Computer software capitalised in 2007 and 2008 principally relates to the
development of software used in websites and online products, and also to
the development of new products in the Perfect Information segment. 
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Leasehold Fixtures Computer Motor
2007 Improvements and Fittings Equipment Vehicles Total

£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
As at 1 July 2006 1.5 1.9 2.0 0.1 5.5
Additions 0.1 0.1 0.3 - 0.5
Transferred to assets held for sale - - (0.1) - (0.1)
Disposals - (0.1) - - (0.1)

At 30 June 2007 1.6 1.9 2.2 0.1 5.8

Depreciation
As at 1 July 2006 0.6 1.2 1.1 0.1 3.0
Charge for the year 0.1 0.2 0.5 - 0.8
Disposals - (0.1) - - (0.1)

At 30 June 2007 0.7 1.3 1.6 0.1 3.7

Net book amount
At 30 June 2007 0.9 0.6 0.6 - 2.1

10 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold Fixtures Computer Motor
2008 Improvements and Fittings Equipment Vehicles Total

£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
As at 1 July 2007 1.6 1.9 2.2 0.1 5.8
Additions 0.3 0.1 0.3 - 0.7
Disposals - - - (0.1) (0.1)

At 30 June 2008 1.9 2.0 2.5 - 6.4

Depreciation
As at 1 July 2007 0.7 1.3 1.6 0.1 3.7
Charge for the year 0.2 0.2 0.4 - 0.8
Disposals - - - (0.1) (0.1)

At 30 June 2008 0.9 1.5 2.0 - 4.4

Net book amount
At 30 June 2008 1.0 0.5 0.5 - 2.0
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11 Investments

Company

Investments 
in subsidiary 
undertakings

£m

At 1 July 2007 145.6
Additions 0.2

At 30 June 2008 145.8

The following table shows the principal subsidiary undertakings as at 30 June 2008: 

The increase in investments in subsidiaries of £0.2
million represents the expense in relation to share
options granted to employees of subsidiary companies.

Class of Proportion
Name share capital Held Principal activity

%

Centaur Communications Limited (1) Ordinary 100.00 Holding company and agency services
Chiron Communications Limited Ordinary 100.00 Magazine publishing
Ascent Publishing Limited Ordinary 100.00 Magazine publishing
Centaur Publishing Limited Ordinary 100.00 Exhibitions
Perfect Information Limited Ordinary 96.65 Financial information services
Pro-Talk Limited Ordinary 100.00 Online publisher
Synergy Software Solutions Limited Ordinary 96.65 Software consulting
The Awareness Group Limited Ordinary 100.00 Conferences 

Notes
(1) Directly owned by Centaur Media plc.

All the above subsidiary undertakings are incorporated in
England and Wales. The consolidated financial
statements incorporate the financial statements of all
entities controlled by the Company at 30 June each year. 

No minority interest has been recognised by the Group
in relation to Perfect Information Limited or Synergy
Software Solutions Limited, as the Perfect Information
group had net liabilities at 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007. 
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Group Group Company Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m
Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade receivables 11.0 13.3 - -
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (0.4) (0.4) - -

Trade receivables – net 10.6 12.9 - -
Receivables from subsidiaries - - 42.6 6.0
Other receivables 1.6 1.1 0.4 -
Prepayments and accrued income 4.3 4.4 - -

16.5 18.4 43.0 6.0

13 Trade and other receivables 

The ageing of trade receivables at 30 June 2008, according to their original due date, is detailed below:

2008 2008 2007 2007
£m £m £m £m

Gross Provision Gross Provision

Relating to future revenues 2.9 - 3.0 -
Current 5.5 - 7.1 (0.1)
31-60 days 2.0 (0.1) 2.4 -
61-90 days 0.4 (0.1) 0.6 (0.1)
Over 90 days 0.2 (0.2) 0.2 (0.2)

11.0 (0.4) 13.3 (0.4)

The amount relating to future
revenues forms part of deferred
income in note 18.

12 Inventories 

Group Group
2008 2007

£m £m

Work in progress 1.2 1.1

1.2 1.1

In the Directors’ view there is
no difference between the book
value and the replacement cost
of inventories.
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The movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is detailed below:

Group Group
2008 2007

£m £m

Balance at start of year 0.4 0.3
Utilised (0.5) (0.5)
Additional provision charged to the income statement 0.5 0.6

Balance at end of year 0.4 0.4

The Group’s policy requires customers to pay it in
accordance with agreed payment terms, which are
generally 30 days from the date of invoice, or in the case
of event-related revenue, 30 days before the event. All
credit and recovery risk associated with trade
receivables has been provided for in the balance sheet.

14 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Group Company Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 7.8 10.1 0.2 1.9

7.8 10.1 0.2 1.9

Total cash at bank and in hand at 30 June 2008 includes
an amount of £0.1 million (2007: £1.1 million) held on
behalf of the holders of loan notes in Centaur Media plc
(see note 16). This amount is therefore a restricted
balance and is not available for use by the Group in its
day to day operations. The unrestricted cash available
for use in the day to day operations of the Group at 30
June 2008 was £7.7 million (2007: £9.0 million). 

During the course of the year, the Group placed surplus
funds on short-term deposit of between 1 day and 6
months in duration. There were no deposits placed as 
at 30 June 2008 or 30 June 2007. Deposits are
generally placed with the Group’s bankers, National
Westminster Bank plc, who had a Moody’s credit rating
of AA1 at 30 June 2008. The effective interest rate on
these short-term deposits was 5.6% (2007: 4.7%).

13 Trade and other receivables (continued)
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15 Discontinued operations and disposals 

During the previous year, the trade, assets and liabilities relating to the
Televisual magazine were sold to Televisual Media UK Limited, a new
company set up by its former publisher, for a consideration of £0.1 million.

On 20 July 2007 the Directors sold the entire share capital of Hali
Publications Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, to its former publisher. 
The sale was completed on for a consideration of £0.4 million resulting in 
a profit of £0.2 million.

2008 2007

£m £m

Revenue - 1.1

Operating profit - (0.1)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operation 0.2 0.1

Profit for the year from 
discontinued operations 0.2 -

The results of the discontinued operations are presented below: 

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Hali Publications Limited
were as follows:

2008 2007

£m £m

Assets
Property, plant and equipment - 0.1
Receivables - 0.3

Assets classified as held for resale - 0.4

Liabilities
Payables - 0.2

Liabilities classified as held for resale - 0.2

The net cash flows after tax of the discontinued operations were 
as follows:

2008 2007

£m £m

Operating - -

Investing
Proceeds from the sale of subsidiary 0.4 0.1
Purchase of property, plant and equipment - (0.1)

Financing - -

Net cash flow 0.4 -
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16 Financial liabilities - borrowings

Group Group Company Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Loan notes 0.1 1.1 0.1 1.1

The loan notes were issued following the acquisition of
the Centaur Communications Group in 2004. The loan
notes in the Company have been issued in amounts and
multiples of £1 with a variable rate of interest of 0.75%
below LIBOR for each relevant interest period. Unless
previously redeemed or purchased the loan notes will be
redeemed in full at par on 31 March 2011. The loan
notes are redeemable at the option of each note holder
on 30 June and 31 December in each year up to 31

March 2011 by giving not less than 30 days notice.

During the year, loan notes of £1.0m were redeemed
(2007: £0.5m). The amount redeemed during 2008
included £0.8m to Mr T Scruby, a Non-Executive
Director. The amounts redeemed during 2007 included
£0.3m to members of key management. The balance at
30 June 2008 does not include any amounts owing to
Directors (2007: £0.8m) or key management (2007: Nil).

17 Trade and other payables - current

Group Group Company Company
2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Trade payables 2.0 3.1 - -
Payables to subsidiaries - - 32.9 16.8
Social security and other taxes 2.7 2.9 0.1 -
Other payables 0.1 0.1 - -
Accruals 6.2 5.3 0.1 0.5

11.0 11.4 33.1 17.3
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18 Deferred income - current

Group Group

2008 2007

£m £m

Deferred income 8.7 9.6

19 Current tax liabilities

Group Group

2008 2007

£m £m

Corporation tax 2.0 2.3

20 Deferred tax

Group Group

2008 2007

£m £m

Asset at 1 July 0.4 0.5
Recognised in income statement (0.7) -
Taken directly to equity – share options (0.1) (0.1)

Net (liability)/asset at 30 June (0.4) 0.4

The movement on the deferred tax account is shown below:
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An asset of £0.1 million (2007: £0.7 million)
relating to future deductions on the exercise of
share options arising in Centaur Media plc has not
been recognised by the Company. This asset will

be recognised if it becomes deemed to be
recoverable against the generation of suitable
taxable profits in the Company in the future.

Other
temporary

Deferred tax liabilities differences

£m

At 1 July 2007 and 30 June 2008 (1.1)

Accelerated Tax losses Other
capital carried temporary Group

Deferred tax assets allowances forward differences Total

£m £m £m £m

At 1 July 2007 0.8 0.1 0.6 1.5
Recognised in income statement (0.2) (0.1) (0.4) (0.7)
Taken directly to equity – share options - - (0.1) (0.1)

At 30 June 2008 0.6 - 0.1 0.7

Net deferred tax (liability)/asset 

At 30 June 2008 (0.4)

At 30 June 2007 0.4

20 Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised 
in respect of all tax losses and other temporary
differences giving rise to deferred tax assets
where it is probable that these assets will 
be recovered. 

The movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities during the year (prior to the offsetting of
balances within the same jurisdiction as permitted
by IAS 12) are shown below. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are only offset where there is a
legally enforceable right of offset and there is an
intention to settle the balances net.
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21 Share capital

Group and Group and
Company Company

2008 2007

£m £m
Authorised: 
200,000,000 (2006: 200,000,000) ordinary shares of 10p each 20.0 20.0

Issued and fully paid: 

Ordinary shares of 10p each
Shares at 1 July 2007: 149,755,879 (1 July 2006: 149,336,858) 15.0 14.9
Shares allotted under share option schemes: 452,081 (2007: 419,021) - 0.1

As at 30 June 2008: 150,207,960 shares (2007: 149,755,879) 15.0 15.0

Potential issues of ordinary shares

Certain senior executives hold options to
subscribe for shares in the Company at prices
ranging from 41.67p to 100.00p under the Share
Option Plan and the Rollover Plan. Options on
452,081 shares were exercised during 2008
(2007: 419,021 shares). In addition, under the 

Group’s long-term incentive plan for senior
managers and Executive Directors, such
individuals hold rights over ordinary shares that
may result in the issue of 10p ordinary shares.
Finally, during the year a Sharesave plan was
launched. The number of shares subject to 

options (or, in the case of the LTIPs, the numbers
awarded), the periods in which they were granted
and the periods in which they may be exercised
are given below. 

2008 2007
Exercise Number of Number of

price potential issues potential issues
Year of grant Plan (pence) Exercise period of shares of shares

30 June 2004 Rollover options 41.67 10 March 2005 to 9 March 2014 172,777 172,777
30 June 2004 Rollover options 57.87 10 March 2005 to 9 March 2014 130,158 194,349
30 June 2004 Share Option Plan 100.00 10 March 2007 to 9 March 2014 3,120,802 3,438,692
30 June 2005 Share Option Plan 88.50 29 September 2007 to 29 September 2014 1,240,000 1,430,000
30 June 2006 LTIP n/a 13 June 2009 355,000 355,000
30 June 2007 LTIP n/a 26 April 2010 350,000 350,000
30 June 2008 LTIP n/a 19 March 2011 620,000 -
30 June 2008 Sharesave plan 64.7p 24 April 2011-24 October 2011 400,653 -
30 June 2008 Sharesave plan 64.7p 24 April 2013-24 October 2013 391,319 -

6,780,709 5,940,818



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Centaur Media plc – Annual Report
Year ended 30 June 2008 79

22 Share based payments

Centaur had four share-based payment arrangements
during the year.

Share option plan

Share options have been granted to members of senior management on 9
March 2004 and 29 September 2004. Options became exercisable on the
third anniversary of the date of grant, having met corporate performance
targets based on Earnings before taxation & amortisation (EBTA), which were
common to all Executive Directors and senior management. Exercise of an
option is subject to continued employment. The maximum term of an option is
10 years from grant date. The options are equity settled over the ordinary
shares of 10p in Centaur Media plc.

The Rollover plan 

Centaur Media plc Executive Directors and certain senior employees elected
to rollover existing (“old”) Centaur Communications Ltd share options into
new “rollover” share options in Centaur Media plc. The options were
exchanged for options each at various exercise prices in Centaur Media plc.
Rollover options were able to be exercised from 10 March 2005. Exercise of
an option is subject to continued employment. The maximum term of an
option is 10 years from grant date. The options are equity-settled over the
ordinary shares of 10p in Centaur Media plc.

At 30 June 2008, the following options were outstanding over the
shares of Centaur Media plc:

2008 2007
Exercise Contractual Contractual

price remaining life remaining life
Plan (pence) Number (years) Number (years)

Rollover plan 41.67 172,777 5.70 172,777 6.70
Rollover plan 57.87 130,158 5.70 194,349 6.70
Share option plan 100.00 3,120,802 5.70 3,438,692 6.70
Share option plan 88.50 1,240,000 6.25 1,430,000 7.25

4,663,737 5.84 5,235,818 6.85

The movements in the year for the plans over the shares of 
Centaur Media plc can be analysed as follows:

2008 2007
Weighted Weighted

average exercise average exercise 
Number price (pence) Number price (pence)

Outstanding at 1 July 5,235,818 93.37 5,724,839 87.32 
Exercised during the year (452,081) 92.24 (419,021) 11.58
Forfeited during the year (120,000) 88.50 (70,000) 88.50

Outstanding at 30 June 4,663,737 96.66 5,235,818 93.37

Exercisable at 30 June 4,663,737 96.66 3,855,818 95.11

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for options
exercised during the year was 102.5p (2007: 133.0p). 
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22 Share based payments (continued)

Long-term incentive plan

The Long-term incentive plan (the “LTIP”) was approved at an Extraordinary
General Meeting of the Company on 4 May 2006, and the initial awards
(“2006 LTIP awards”) were made on 13 June 2006. Further awards were
made on 26 April 2007 (“2007 LTIP awards”). During the year, awards were
made on 19 March 2008 (“2008 LTIP awards”).

The awards all take the form of conditional grants of free ordinary shares of
10p each in Centaur Media plc. The awards will vest three years after grant
date, subject to continuing employment and the achievement of performance
conditions as detailed in the Directors’ remuneration report (pages 41 and 42).

2008 2007
Contractual Contractual

remaining life remaining life 
Plan Number (years) Number (years)

2006 LTIP Awards: 355,000 0.96 355,000 1.96
2007 LTIP Awards 350,000 1.82 350,000 2.82
2008 LTIP Awards 620,000 2.72 - -

Total 1,325,000 705,000

The movements in the year for the LTIP plans over the shares 
of Centaur Media plc can be analysed as follows:

2008 2007
Number Number

Outstanding at 1 July 705,000 375,000
Granted during the year 620,000 350,000
Forfeited during the year - (20,000)

Outstanding at 30 June 1,325,000 705,000

The following awards were outstanding at 30 June 2008:



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Centaur Media plc – Annual Report
Year ended 30 June 2008 81

22 Share based payments (continued)

Sharesave plan

On 24 April 2008, the Company introduced a Sharesave plan (the 'SAYE
Scheme'). The SAYE Scheme is an HMRC approved all-employee plan and
is open to all employees who have been employed by the Group for more
than 12 months. Employees may invest up to £3,000 per annum for a period
of either 3 or 5 years, after which they may exercise SAYE options within 

6 months of the anniversary date of the contract commencement date. 
The Option price of the 2008 grants made was 64.7 pence, a discount 
of 20% on the share price determined at the pricing date. Other than
continuing employment, there are no other performance conditions 
attached to the plan.

The following Sharesave plan awards were outstanding at 30 June 2008:

2008 2007
Contractual Contractual

Plan Number remaining life Number remaining life 

3 year plan 400,653 2.82 - -
5 year plan 391,319 4.82 - -

Total 791,972 -

The movements in the year for the Sharesave plan over the shares 
of Centaur Media plc can be analysed as follows:

2008 2007
Number Number

Granted during the year 791,972 -

Outstanding at 30 June 791.972 -
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22 Share based payments (continued)

In accordance with transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to all
grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested at 1
January 2005. IFRS 2 has not been applied to the Rollover options as these
were issued in consideration of a business combination and are therefore
outside the scope of IFRS 2.

Options and LTIP awards were valued using the stochastic option 
pricing model. 

The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the
calculation are as follows:

Estimated Share price Expected Risk free
Date of fair value at at grant Exercise Expected dividend interest

Plan grant grant date date price volatility growth rate

Pence Pence Pence % % %

Share Option Plan 9.03.04 24.50 100.00 100.00 22.1% 1.5% 4.6%
Share Option Plan 29.09.04 21.40 88.50 88.50 22.1% 1.7% 4.8%
2006 LTIP Awards 13.06.06 65.85 105.25 n/a 22.5% n/a n/a
2007 LTIP Awards 26.04.07 97.35 144.00 n/a 25.4% n/a n/a
2008 LTIP Awards 19.03.08 41.86 77.25 n/a 33.4% n/a n/a
2008 Sharesave (3 year plan) 24.04.08 16.67 72.00 64.70 32.3% 5.14% 4.54%
2008 Sharesave (5 year plan) 24.04.08 16.81 72.00 64.70 29.6% 5.14% 4.56%

For the Share Option plan, the expected volatility is based on historical
volatility over a 20 month period from the date of listing to November 2005.
For the LTIP awards, expected volatility is used only to assess the likelihood
of meeting the TSR performance condition and is based on historical
volatility for a period commensurate with the remaining performance period
at the date of valuation. For the Sharesave plan, expected volatility is based
on historical volatility for a period commensurate with the expected terms of
the options to the grant date. 

The risk-free rate of return is the yield on UK Gilts consistent with the 
option life. 

The total charge for the year relating to employee share based payment
plans was £0.3 million (2007: £0.4 million), all of which related to equity-
settled share based payment transactions. This includes £0.1m which has
been included in exceptional costs (refer to note 2).
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23 Shareholders’ funds and statement of changes 
in shareholders’ equity

Reserve for
Share Treasury Share Retained shares to Deferred

Group capital shares premium earnings be issued shares Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 July 2006 14.9 - 0.3 140.3 2.3 0.1 157.9

Profit for the year - - - 12.3 - - 12.3
Dividends - - - (5.1) - - (5.1)
Treasury shares purchased - (1.0) - - - - (1.0)
Share options:
- Proceeds from shares allotted 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
under share options schemes

- Fair value of employee services - - - - 0.4 - 0.4
- Deferred tax on share options taken directly to equity - - - (0.1) - - (0.1)

As at 30 June 2007 15.0 (1.0) 0.3 147.4 2.7 0.1 164.5

Profit for the year - - - 9.7 - - 9.7
Dividends - - - (5.4) - - (5.4)
Treasury shares purchased - (7.9) - - - - (7.9)
Share options:
- Proceeds from shares allotted under - - 0.4 - - - 0.4
share options schemes

- Fair value of employee services - - - - 0.3 - 0.3
- Deferred tax on share options taken directly to equity - - - (0.1) - - (0.1)

As at 30 June 2008 15.0 (8.9) 0.7 151.6 3.0 0.1 161.5

The 800,000 deferred shares of 10 pence each carry restricted voting rights
and carry no right to receive a dividend payment in respect of any financial year.

The additions to the reserve for shares to be issued during the year ended
30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008 represent the total charge for the year
relating to equity-settled share based payment transactions with employees
as accounted for under IFRS 2. 

Treasury shares

During the period, the Company acquired 7,550,000 of its own shares
through open market purchases. The total amount paid to acquire the shares
was £7.9m and this has been deducted from shareholders’ equity. The
shares are held as treasury shares. 
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23 Shareholders’ funds and statement of changes 
in shareholders’ equity (continued)

Reserve for
Share Treasury Share Retained shares to Deferred

Company capital shares premium earnings be issued shares Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 July 2007 14.9 - 0.3 125.0 2.3 0.1 142.6
Loss for the year - - - (2.9) - - (2.9)
Dividends - - - (5.1) - - (5.1)
Share options:
- Proceeds from shares allotted under share options schemes 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
- Fair value of employee services - - - - 0.4 - 0.4

As at 30 June 2007 15.0 - 0.3 117.0 2.7 0.1 135.1

Profit for the year - - - 33.3 - - 33.3
Dividends - - - (5.4) - - (5.4)
Treasury shares purchased - (7.9) - - - - (7.9)
Share options:
- Proceeds from shares allotted under share options schemes - 0.4 - - - 0.4
- Fair value of employee services - - - 0.3 - 0.3

As at 30 June 2008 15.0 (7.9) 0.7 144.9 3.0 0.1 155.8

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available under section
230 of the Companies Act 1985 and has not presented its own income
statement in these financial statements. The parent Company’s profit

amounted to £33.3 million, including dividends received from subsidiaries of
£34.2 million (2007: loss of £2.9 million).

24 Dividends

2008 2007

£m £m
Equity dividends

Final dividend paid for FY2007: 2.5 pence per 10p ordinary share (2007: 2.4 pence paid for FY2006) 3.7 3.6
Interim paid for FY2008: 1.2 pence per 10p ordinary share (2007: 1.0 pence paid for FY2007) 1.7 1.5

5.4 5.1

A final dividend of 3.0 pence per share is proposed by the Directors, and subject to
shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting, will be paid on 20 November 2008.
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25 Notes to the cash flow statement

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities:

Cash generated from Group Group Company Company
continuing operations 2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Profit/ (loss) for the year 9.5 12.3 33.3 (2.9)

Adjustments for:
Tax 5.0 4.6 - -
Depreciation 0.8 0.8 - -
Asset write down – included in exceptional items 1.2 - - -
Amortisation of intangibles 2.6 2.6 - -
Interest income (0.2) (0.2) (2.6) (0.3)
Interest expense - - 2.1 1.1
Dividends received from subsidiaries - - (34.2) -
Share of associates’ profit - (0.8) - -
Share option charge 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.1
Share option charge – included in exceptional items 0.1 - - -

Changes in working capital (excluding effects of 
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries)
Decrease/ (increase) in inventories (0.1) 0.6 - -
Increase in trade and other receivables 2.1 (0.8) (2.5) (1.1)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (2.2) (1.3) 15.8 8.9

Cash generated from continuing operations 19.0 18.2 12.0 5.8

Cash generated from Group Group Company Company
discontinued operations 2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Profit/ (loss) for the year 0.2 - - -

Adjustments for:
Profit on disposal of business (0.2) (0.1) - -
Decrease in trade and other receivables - 0.1 - -

Cash generated from discontinued operations - - - -

Cash generated from operations 19.0 18.2 12.0 5.9
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26 Financial instruments

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: currency risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk. The
following note describes the role that financial
instruments have had during the year ended 30
June 2008 in the management of the Group’s
financial risks.

Currency risk

Substantially all the Group’s net assets are
located and all turnover and EBITDA is generated
in the United Kingdom and consequently foreign
exchange risk is limited and the results of the
Group are not sensitive to movements in currency
rates. However the Group does have Euro, Hong
Kong $, US $ and UAE Dirham denominated bank
accounts to minimise any recognised losses
arising from currency fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk

At 30 June 2008 the Group has no overdrafts or
short term or long term borrowings (other than
cash held on behalf of the holders of Centaur
Media plc loan stock) and therefore also has only
limited sensitivity to movements in interest rates.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit
risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, and
credit exposures to customers including
outstanding receivables and committed
transactions. For banks and financial institutions,
only independently rated parties with a minimum
rating of 'A' are accepted. For customers, the
Group’s risk control assesses the credit quality of
the customer, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.

Liquidity risk

The day to day operations of the Group for the
year have been financed primarily by cash and at
30 June 2008 cash and cash equivalents
amounted to £7.8 million (2007: £10.1 million).
This includes an amount of £0.1 million (2007:
£1.1 million) held on deposit on behalf of the
holders of Centaur Media plc loan stock which
represents a restricted balance and therefore
cannot be used in the day to day operations of
the business.

Unrestricted cash balances at 30 June 2008 were
£7.7 million (2007: £9.0 million).

Surplus working capital funds are placed daily on
the London money markets using variable
maturity dates depending on future cash
requirements. Cash pooling arrangements have
been made in respect of all GB Sterling, Euro and
US dollar bank accounts to maximise the interest
receivable on these surplus funds.

Capital risk 

As the Group has no overdrafts or short term or
long term borrowings the Directors do not
consider that there is any material capital risk
exposure. 

Fair values of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities 

The fair value is defined as the amount at which a financial instrument could
be exchanged in an arms length transaction between informed and willing
parties and is calculated by reference to market rates discounted to current
value. Where market rates are not available fair values have been calculated
by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

All financial assets have been classified as loans and receivables. All financial
liabilities have been classified as other financial liabilities. 

The fair value of financial instruments at 30 June 2008 was:

Primary financial instruments 
held or issued to finance 2008 2007
the Group’s operations Book Value Fair Value Book Value Fair Value

£m £m £m £m

Variable rate unsecured loan notes (0.1) (0.1) (1.1) (1.1)
Trade and other payables (note 17) (10.8) (10.8) (11.4) (11.4)
Trade and other receivables (note 13) 16.5 16.5 18.4 18.4
Cash and cash equivalents (note 14) 7.8 7.8 10.1 10.1

The book value of primary financial
instruments approximates to fair
value where the instrument is on a
short maturity or where they bear
interest at rates approximate to
market. In respect of the loan notes
this rate of interest is equal to a rate
0.75 per cent below LIBOR for the
relevant interest period.
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

Maturity of financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 30 June 2008
was as follows:

Borrowing facilities

The undrawn facilities available at 30 June 2008 were as follows: 

2008 2007

£m £m

In one year or less or on demand (0.1) (1.1)

(0.1) (1.1)

Unless previously redeemed or purchased the loan notes will be redeemed in
full at par on 31 March 2011. The loan notes are redeemable at the option of
each note holder on 30 June and 31 December in each year up to 31 March
2011 by giving not less than 30 days notice.

2008 2007

£m £m

Expiring in one year or less 4.0 4.0

27 Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments

Vehicles, plant
Property and equipment

2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m

Commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases expiring:
- Within 1 year 2.6 2.6 0.2 0.2
- Later than one year and less than 5 years 8.8 9.3 0.6 0.8
- After 5 years 4.8 5.9 - -

16.2 17.8 0.8 1.0
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28 Pension schemes

The Group contributes to individual and collective money
purchase pension schemes in respect of Directors and
employees once they have completed the requisite
period of service. The charge for the year in respect of
these pension schemes, which are defined 

contribution schemes, is shown in note 5. Included
within other creditors is an amount of £0.1 million (2007:
£0.1 million) payable in respect of the money purchase
pension schemes.

29 Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments of £0.6 million at
30 June 2008 (2007: £nil).

30 Related party transactions

Group

Key management compensation is disclosed in note 5.
The amounts repaid to key management in relation to
loan notes are disclosed in note 16. There were no other
material related party transactions. 

Company

During the year, administrative expenses and interest
were recharged from/to subsidiary companies as follows:

2008 2007

£m £m

Recharge of administrative expenses 0.1 0.4
Interest payable 2.1 1.1
Interest receivable (2.6) (0.3)
Dividends received 34.2 -

The balances outstanding with
subsidiary companies 
are disclosed in notes 13 and 17.
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Centaur’s Vision –
What we aim to do
Centaur’s focus is on serving defined business
and special interest communities, within which 
we identify two broad customer groups – those
we call our audiences (i.e. information consumers
who read our print and online publications 
and visit our events) and those we call 
marketers (i.e. those who wish to do business
with our audiences). 

We aim to be market leaders within our
chosen specialist communities in the
following areas of activity:

• To be the leading provider of high need
information to our community audiences

• To be the leading provider of marketing and
lead-generation multimedia solutions to our
community marketers

Centaur’s Strategy –
How we aim to do it
The success of our business depends upon our
ability to maintain the trust and support of our
audiences, through the delivery of relevant
content, so that we can connect them with
prospective marketers. 

The key elements of our strategy are
therefore as follows:

• To identify high value business and special
interest audiences and understand their
information needs

• To build high quality databases of influential
individuals within our communities and
understand the marketing needs of those wishing
to connect with our audiences

• To establish the most appropriate media (print
publications, online and events) which best
engage with our audiences information and
business needs and in so doing create or
reinforce a community’s distinctive identity

• To use our media and our databases to provide
effective marketing and lead generation solutions
to those seeking to connect with our audiences

• To achieve and sustain market leadership
through investment in customer-focussed
innovation

Centaur’s Values –
Who we aim to be
Centaur’s culture has, since its formation, been
built on the foundation stones of integrity and
enterprise. We want our people and our products
to inspire trust, we aim to treat people with
honesty and respect and we reward merit. As an
entrepreneurial business, we encourage our
people to think like owners, to be creative, take
initiative, work hard and embrace change. We
believe that these values are integral to our past
and future success.

Finding new ways to inform and connect in strong markets
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